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Foreword

We are pleased to make available this historic structure report, part of our ongoing effort to provide com-
prehensive documentation for the historic structures and landscapes of National Park Service units in the
Southeast Region. A number of individuals contributed to the successful completion of this work, but we
would particularly like to thank the staff at Jean Lafitte National Historical Park and Preserve, including
acting superintendent Paul Hartwig, for their assistance throughout the process. Special thanks to Allison
Pefia, Brian Strack, David Muth, Kathy Lang, Nancy Walters, Lorene Walter, and Linell Holly. We hope that
this study of the Superintendent’s Lodge at Chalmette National Cemetery will prove valuable to park man-
agement in ongoing efforts to preserve the building and to everyone in understanding and interpreting this

unique resource.

Dan Scheidt, Chief
Cultural Resources Division
Southeast Regional Office
June 2006
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Management
Summary

Built by the War Department in 1929, the
Superintendent’s Lodge at Chalmette National
Cemetery (hereafter referred to as Lodge) is the
fourth superintendent’s residence to have served
the cemetery since its founding in 1864. Occupied as
a residence until 1979, the building was used as
administrative offices until it was vacated as a result
of flooding during Hurricane Katrina in September
2005. Greene’s 1985 Historic Resource Study and
Risk’s 1999 Cultural Landscape Report for the
Chalmette Unit of Jean Lafitte National Historical
Park and Preserve have provided most of the
background historical information. Additional
archival materials, including historic photographs,
building plans and specifications, and other
material in the park’s archives have also informed
this report.

R Tt

FIGURE 1. View of Chalmette Cemetery Superintendent’s Lodge, February 2006.

Construction of a new lodge for the superintendent
at Chalmette National Cemetery was a direct result
of the 1928 levee improvements that necessitated
removal of the old lodge. Using an American Four
Square design, plans and specifications for the new
building (see Appendix A) were complete by the
middle of December 1928, and the new house was
completed the following year at a cost of $9,224.20.
Major alterations and additions in 1934, 1951, 1952,
and 1965 brought the house to its current
configuration.

Significance

The Lodge is a contributing building in the
Chalmette Unit of Jean Lafitte NHP Historic
District and is significant for its associations with

National Park Service 1



the cemetery and battlefield park. According to the
National Register nomination, the Lodge as well as
its contemporaneous garage, which is now used as a
maintenance building,

typify government buildings erected in national
cemeteries during the early decades of the
twentieth century. The structures have changed
little and possess integrity of location, design,
materials, and workmanship and embody the
characteristics of the construction of national
cemetery buildings of the 1920s and 1930s.

Summary of
Recommendations

Repairs
m  Replace all HVAC, electrical, and plumbing

m  Repair plaster walls and ceilings

m Reconstruct east chimney
m Repair roofing
m  Replace gutters with 6™ or larger gutters

m Install permanent drainage system from
downspouts

m Reinstall original doors and windows

Additions

m  Remove additions on first floor of back porch

m Preserve sleeping porch, but remove added
closets

m Replace aluminum windows with wood sash to
match original

FIGURE 2. Map of Chalmette unit of Jean Lafitte National Historical Park. The Lodge is located

near the cemetery entrance at upper right in this image.
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m Reinstate wall between Rooms 101 and 104 if that
would benefit the park’s use of the building

Improvements for Accessibility and
for Fire Protection

m  Remove laundry room, powder room, and
chimney from first floor of back porch

m Close powder room door

B Widen back door and door between Rooms 103
and 104 to provide handicapped access

m  Remove closets and chimney from sleeping
porch

m Install ramp to back porch along southwest side
of house

m Install fire detection and suppression systems

Administrative
Data

Locational Data
Building Name: Superintendent’s Lodge

Management Summary

Location: Chalmette National Cemetery, Arabi,
Louisiana

LCS Number: 064956

Related Studies

Greene, Jerome A. Historic Resource Study, Chalmette Unit,
Jean Lafitte National Historical Park and Preserve.
United States Department of the Interior, National
Park Service, September 1985.

Risk, Kevin. Chalmette Battlefield and Chalmette National
Cemetery Cultural Landscape Report. Cultural
Resources Stewardship Division, National Park
Service, Southeast Regional Office, August 1999.

Cultural Resource Data

National Register of Historic Places: The park was
administratively listed on the National Register of
Historic Places on October 15,1966. The
confirmating documentation was completed and
accepted by the Keeper on July 6,1987. The Lodge is
a contributing structure.

Period of Significance: 1920s and 1930s.

Proposed Treatment: Rehabilitation.

National Park Service 3



4 Chalmette Cemetery Superintendent’s Lodge HSR



Historical Background

and Context

Built in 1929, the Superintendent’s Lodge at Chal-
mette National Cemetery is the fourth superinten-
dent’s residence to have served the cemetery since
its founding in 1864. Occupied as a residence until
1980, the building was used as administrative offices
until it was vacated as a result of flooding during
Hurricane Katrina in September 2005. This section
of the HSR is intended to provided an historical
context for understanding the building.

Chalmette
National
Cemetery

National cemeteries in the United States began with
President Abraham Lincoln’s signing of the Con-
gressional Act of July 17, 1862, among the provisions
of which was authorization for the President "to
purchase cemetery grounds ... to be used as a
national cemetery for soldiers who shall have died
in the service of the country." By the end of that

ONUNSNT OB

lfilimnted in Abe Fasinh of I

year, fourteen such cemeteries were established,
and thirteen more were added by 1867, one of which
was at Chalmette."

Located on the site of the Battle of New Orleans,
which occured in January 1815, Chalmette National
Cemetery had its origins on May 2, 1864, when the
City of New Orleans ceded 8.6 acres to the Federal
government for use as a National Cemetery. Pro-
tected from the river by a levee and measuring 250’
by 1500’, the site had been used for bivouacking
troops and later as a refugee camp for freed slaves,
during which time some burials were made on the
site. After acquiring the property, the Federal gov-
ernment transformed the site by eliminating Civil
War fortifications, removing buildings, and estab-
lishing the formal layout for Monument Cemetery,
as it was first called. In January 1867, the city ceded
an additional five acres to the Federal government,

1. Although land for a cemetery was deeded to the
government in 1864, Chalmette National Cemetery
appears not to have been formally established until
1867.

' ot ok o ol M vt 1'!'- e

FIGURE 3. “Plan of Monument Cemetery,” 1867, showing the cemetery’s original layout. The
original superintendent’s residence is in the lower left corner in this image. (JELA Coll.)
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Historical Background & Context
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FIGURE 4. 1872 plat of Chalmette National
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which extended the cemetery to the river.? By 1868
much of the initial work was complete and there had
been some 12,500 burials. Captain Charles Bernard,
the cemetery’s first superintendent, described the
cemetery at that time as being

laid out in the shape of a rectangle, or right
angles parallelogram, having a frontage of 250
feet on the Mississippi River, and is 2,317 feet in
depth. An avenue 16 feet wide and 2,317 feet long,
with six (6) circles forty (40) feet in diameter at
regular intervals, divides the Cemetery into two
equal parts. This avenue is shelled and is per-
fectly smooth and hard; a neat brick drain run-
ning the entire length of the Cemetery has been
built on each side. The ground is laid out in
squares and walks, the latter are four (4) feet
wide and are shelled; the squares are each 54- 1/2
by 48 feet and are made to contain 96 graves. In
the centre of the Cemetery and within the third
circle from the entrance a terraced mound has
been raised and a handsome flag staff erected.

Construction of the brick walls surrounding the
cemetery began in 1873, and in 1886 a new shell-
surfaced road was constructed from Jackson Bar-
racks to the River Road at the front (south side) of
the cemetery. In 1892, the cemetery walls were
extended to the new roadway, and the cemetery’s
iron entrance gates were relocated to the new
southern edge of the cemetery.

The cemetery is oriented on an axis that is more or less
north- northeast by south- southwest. For descriptive
purposes the river end of the cemetery will be considered its
“south” end.

Around 1905, an old proposal by the New Orleans
Terminal Company to close the River Road finally
came to fruition. The cemetery boundary was
extended fifty feet to the north and a new entrance
road from the St. Bernard Highway was created,
with the transfer of property occurring in 1910. The
following year, the present gates were constructed
and the brick walls were extended to enclose the
cemetery addition.

In the spring of 1927, the worst flood ever to strike
the Mississippi Valley inundated 27,000 square
miles of land in six states and left some 700,000

2. See "Plan of the Monument Cemetery,” 1867, JELA
Coll.



people homeless. In response to the disaster, Con-
gress passed the Flood Control Act of 1928, which
placed responsibility for flood control in the hands
of the Federal government and authorized con-
struction of numerous dams, diversions, and over a
thousand miles of levees along the river and its trib-
utaries. Among the flood- control measures autho-
rized by the 1928 act was an expansion of the levee
in front of Chalmette Cemetery. The work reduced
the cemetery’s length by some two hundred feet and
necessitated relocation of 572 graves and construc-

Part I: Developmental History

tion of a new Superintendent’s Lodge, all of which
was accomplished in 1929.

In August 1933, by Executive Order of the President,
administration of Chalmette Monument and
Grounds was transferred from the War Department
to the National Park Service. Six years later, Chal-
mette Monument became Chalmette National Bat-
tlefield Historical Park. At the same time,
administration of the cemetery itself was also trans-
ferred from the War Department to the National
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FIGURE 5. Plan of Chalmette Cemetery, originally drawn in 1892 and revised in

1911, 1912, and 1925. (JELA Coll.)
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Historical Background & Context

Park Service, and the cemetery became part of the
park. In 1945 the cemetery was officially closed for
burials, although according to the site’s Historic
Resource Study “occasional exceptions. . . have
permitted burials of veterans and war casualties.”3

Caretaker,
Custodians, and
Superintendents

Only a few of the nineteenth and earlytwentieth
century cemetery superintendents at Chalmette
have been identified, but beginning with NPS
administration in 1933, there is a more- or- less
complete list of managers in charge of the ceme-
tery.* The title given the NPS managers varied,
beginning with “caretaker,” the assignation of the
Chalmette manager under War Department and
early NPS administration. By World War II and
continuing into the late 1940s, managers at small
parks were given the title “custodian.” After about
1949, managers at all parks, large or small, were
given the title of “superintendent”

Caretaker

The Federal census survey in April 1930 shows John
W. Shiffler as cemetery caretaker at that time, but
the length of his tenure at the cemetery has not been
established. While not certain, it is quite possible
that Shiffler and his family were the first residents of
the Lodge when it was finished, probably in the
summer or fall of 1929. Both Shiffler and his wife,
May, were Kansas natives, born in 1878 and 1886
respectively. They were married around 1909, prob-
ably in Kansas, and had at least two sons, Meyer,
born in Kansas about 1910, and Henry, born in Kan-
sas about 19135 Nothing else is known about this
family, except for John Shiffler’s death in New

3. Jerome Greene, Historic Resource Study, Chalmette
Unit, Jean Lafitte Natioinal Historical Park and
Preserve (NPS, 1985), Chpt. 13, p. 14, at <http:/
www.cr.nps.gov/history/online_books/jela/hrs.htm>,
accessed April 21, 2006.

4. Harold P. Danz, Historic Listing of National Park
Service Officials (DOI, 1991), accessed at <http:/
www.cr.nps.gov/history/online_books/tolson/
histlist.htm> on March 14, 2006.

5. 1930 Federal Census, Louisiana, St. Bernard Parish,
Chalmette P. O., Police Jury Ward 3. Facsimile of
original census page accessed at <www.ancestry.com>
on March 13, 2006.
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Orleans in April 1939° and his wife’s death in Kansas
in January 1964.7

In 1932, the War Department appointed Frank
Godwin as “caretaker” at Chalmette Monument
and Grounds Battlefield Site. He remained as care-
taker when site administration was transferred to
the NPS in 1933 and continued in that position until
Chalmette Battlefield National Military Park was
established as an independent unit of the NPS in

1942.

Custodian

In 1942, NPS historian Olaf T. Hagen was named the
first superintendent for Chalmette Battlefield
National Historical Park, although the position was
recharacterized as “custodian” the following year.
This was not a demotion for Hagen but rather was a
designation given by the NPS to managers of small
parks, a practice that continued until the late 1940s.
Hagen continued as custodian at Chalmette until he
was replaced by another “custodian” in 1944.
Replacing Hagen was Clarence L. Johnson, another
NPS historian. He served at Chalmette until 1949,
but no details of his life and career have been docu-
mented.

Superintendents

In 1949, Chalmette Battlefield NHP got its first
superintendent, Russell Gibbs, who served in that
position until 1954. Like his predecessor’s, Gibbs’
life and career have not been documented, except
for his service as superintendent at Moore’s Creek
National Battlefield from 1964 to 1969.

The career of Lyle Linch, who served as Chalmette
superintendent from 1954 to 1964, is better docu-
mented. Linch graduated from the University of
Iowa with a degree in biology in 1936 and went to
work for the Park Service in 1938. After a brief stint
at the Lincoln Memorial in Washington, D. C., he
served as a park ranger at Natchez Trace Parkway,
Rocky Mountain National Park, Badlands National
Monument and Jewel Cave National Monument
before being appointed superintendent at Pipestone
National Monument in Minnesota in 1948. There he

6. New Orleans, Louisiana Death Records Index, 1804-
1949, Vol. 212, p. 1051, accessed at
<www.ancestry.com> on March 13, 2006.

7. Social Security Death Index Record, accessed at
<www.ancestry.com> on March 13, 2006.



quickly made a name for himself and did much to
put the park on a sound footing. “Despite his myr-
iad accomplishments,” according to Rothman and
Holder’s 1992 administrative history of the park,
“Linch became a controversial figure within the
agency” and was “remembered as a character”® He
also, they believed,

had a flair for the dramatic and at times
exceeded the bounds of acceptable decorum for
agency personnel. While he aggressively pro-
moted the monument and its features, his
projects sometimes lacked objectivity and sub-
stantiation. Regional officials spent considerable
energy keeping abreast of Linch's activities and
reining himin. ... Linch's claims that he discov-
ered Egyptian hieroglyphics at Pipestone and his
formation of an Ankh society were of particular
annoyance. Regional office supervisors strongly
recommended that Linch adhere to the infor-
mation of respectable scientists and refrain from
the "commercialized" and "gaudy" kind of pre-
sentation that characterized private sites. . . .
[but] Linch's often idiosyncratic presentations
continued intermittently.

Partly because of living conditions at Pipestone,
Linch was requesting transfer as early as 1961, and in
July 1964 his request was finally granted when he
was transferred to Chalmette Battlefield National
Historical Park. Whether or not his tenure at Chal-
mette was as colorful as that of his tenure at Pipe-
stone has not been documented.

The next two superintendents served less than two
years each, beginning with Courtland Reid who
replaced Linch in 1964. In 1965 Reid was replaced by
Robert R. Jacobson. His successor, Arthur Hehr,
served from 1967 to 1974.

In August 1974, Lionel Bienvenu, who had served as
superintendent of Pea Ridge National Military Park
in Arkansas since 1967, was named superintendent
at Chalmette Battlefield NHP. In 1978, Chalmette
became part of the new Jean Lafitte NHP and Pre-
serve and in November of that year, Bienvenu was
named acting superintendent. In January 1979, he
was replaced by the new park’s permanent superin-

8. Hal K. Rothman and Daniel J. Holder, Managing the
Sacred and the Secular: An Administrative History of
Pipestone National Monument (NPS, Midwest Region,
1992), accessed at <http://www.nps.gov/pipe/adhi/
adhi4.htm> on March 13, 2006.

Part I: Developmental History

FIGURE 6. The Lodge at Fort Donaldson National
Cemetery, built to the Second-Empire design Meigs
used through the 1870s. (Brian Coffey, NPS-SERO-
CRD, 2004)

tendent, James L. Isenogle. Bienvenu, who became
Chief of Interpretation for the new park, was the last
resident of the Lodge, which underwent rehabilita-
tion as administrative headquarters for the newly-
formed park. Later superintendents, including Ise-
nogle, did not reside at the Lodge.

Isenogle, who began working with the NPS in 1957
and came to the park from the Midwest Regional
Office, supervised Jean Lafitte NHP and Preserve in
its formative years. He retired from the NPS in 1987.
When he died in 1994, the U. S. Senate passed a res-
olution honoring his work at Jean Lafitte NHP.9
Three superintendents have served the park since
Isenogle’s retirement: Ann Belkov (1987-1990),
Robert Belous (1991- 1996), and Geraldine Smith
(1996- 2006).

Early Lodges

Operated under the jurisdiction of the War Depart-
ment until after World War II, all but a handful of
the national cemeteries had an on- site residence for
the cemetery superintendent. Gen. Montgomery C.
Meigs (1816- 1892), civil engineer and Quartermaster
General for the Army during and after the Civil War,
directed the initial development of national ceme-
teries and, among other things, designed “lodges,”
as the residences were generally designated, for
many cemeteries.

9. Congressional Record, S8445.

National Park Service 9



Historical Background & Context

FIGURE 7. Cemetery gates and the first

superintendent’s residence as depicted on the 1867
“Plan of the Monument Cemetery. (JELA Coll.)

FIGURE 8. Plan of of south end of cemetery, showing
first lodge and its outbuildings, as depicted on the
1867 “Plan of the Monument Cemetery.” (JELA Coll.)
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Some sources have suggested that a single, stan-
dardized design was used for all cemetery lodges'®,
but typical of government architecture, the design of
the War Department’s cemetery lodges were in fact
standardized but, nevertheless, tended to follow
prevailing architectural trends.” So, while some
fifty- five Meigs- designed lodges were built
between about 1870 and 1900, they were not all in
the same style. The Second- Empire design that
Meigs used in the 1870s was replaced in the 1880s
with a simplified Victorian design, and by the time
the last lodges were built just prior to the Great
Depression, a variety of other styles had been
employed.

The First Lodge

The first superintendent’s residence at Chalmette
was a one- story or story- and- a- half, wood-
framed building that appears to have pre- dated
establishment of the cemetery. Located at the
southeast corner of the cemetery adjacent to the
cemetery gates, the building included the cemetery
office. Just to the east of the house was a detached
kitchen, flanked by what appears to be a large circu-
lar cistern. An L- shaped building to the east of that
contained a stable and storage room. What may
have been a privy appears to be shown just north of
the stable. The house may not have been in good
condition, however, and it was abandoned by Feb-
ruary 1869 when the Deputy Quartermaster General
wrote that "the old building recently occupied by
the Super of the National Cemetery at Chalmette"
would be sold at auction. Three months later, "the
old frame building in front of the National Ceme-
tery" was gone.

The Second Lodge

By December 1868, “a permanent lodge of brick. ..
[had] been erected near the front gate,” according to
areport by the Adjutant General, who had recently
toured the cemetery. No images of this structure
have been found, but written descriptions and its
plan (see Figure 9) show that its construction did
not use the Second- Empire design that Meigs

10. E.g., see <http://www.cem.va.gov/nchp/
alexandriava.htm>, accessed 2 March 2006.

11. The design of the U.S. Life-Saving Service’s numerous
stations, for example, illustrates the use of
standardized designs that evolved along with the
evolution of architectural fashion. See Cape Lookout
Life-Saving Station Historic Structure Report (NPS,
Southeast Regional Office, 2004).



began using around 1870 (see Figure 6). A February
1871 report, quoted by Greene, noted that

[t]he lodge is a new brick structure containing
three rooms, having projecting roof and piazza
all around. There is a cistern attached to it. The
privy and out- houses are arranged with better
taste than usual at the cemeteries. The stable is
outside of the fence, in front of the southeast
corner of the cemetery.”

That description of a piazza “all around” the build-
ing is contradicted by two subsequent reports, also
quoted by Greene. According to Greene, Superin-
tendent P. P. Carroll's annual report for 1873

mentioned that the superintendent's lodge con-
sisted of three rooms of equal size. At each end
of this structure was [sic] built ground galleys six
feet wide and twenty feet long with balustrades
placed around them. The back part of the lodge
was enclosed with a six- and- one- half- foot-
high lattice fence.

The most- detailed description of the second lodge
at Chalmette is taken from the 1874 annual report on

the cemetery:

12. For all quoted material regarding the cemetery

lodges, see Greene, Chapter 13, referenced at <http://
www.cr.nps.gov/history/online_books/jela/hrs13.htm>,

7 March 2006.
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Part I: Developmental History

The lodge is situated near the main entrance. It is
a one- story brick building, 51 by 21 feet, contain-
ing three rooms, with a piazza on the east and
west sides, the roof projecting over the piazzas.
The lodge is not convenient nor ornamental, and
is rendered more unsightly by having a kitchen
partitioned off on the back piazza. One of the
new style of lodges would be much more appro-
priate here. There are some handsome flower-
beds about the lodge; also four gun- monuments
set in masonry.

That same year, according to Greene, the Superin-
tendent “complained that the superintendent’s
lodge was damp and unfit for habitation.” As a result
construction of a new lodge was ordered.

The Third Lodge

Unfortunately for the superintendent, construction
of anew lodge did not get underway until 1880, with
anew building apparently completed by the end of
that year. It is assumed that the old building was
demolished, but the fact that the old building was
brick and similar in plan and dimension to the new
building suggests the possibility that the second
lodge was expanded to two stories and remodeled
to create the third lodge. In any case, Greene notes
that it was “specifically designed to meet climatic
conditions of the Mississippi delta area.” Specifica-
tions for the building, which can be found in

TEFas  EEEd

[

FIGURE 9. Detail from 1892 War Department map of Chalmette National Cemetery, revised in 1925,
showinig location and plan of 1880 lodge, adjacent outbuildings, and the nearby Rostrum at the

southeast corner of cemetery. (JELA Coll.)
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Historical Background & Context

Appendix B of Greene’s report, described this third
lodge at Chalmette:

The building, 52 feet 1 inch long by 20 feet 7
inches wide, to be of brick, two stories in height;
each story to be subdivided into two rooms and
a central hall, and each to be 11 feet 7 inches clear
in height; the whole to be surrounded by a porch
10 feet wide and one story in height.

As with the previous lodges, there was a seperate
detached kitchen located behind the main residence
and, just beyond, an “outbuilding,” which almost
certainly included a stable. Adjacent to all three
buildings were cisterns, which would have collected
rainwater through gutters from the roofs of the
buildings. No privy is depicted on the cemetery
plan, perhaps because there were indoor bathrooms
by that time, but there was a cesspool shown just
north of the outbuilding.

The Fourth Lodge

As noted above, construction of the fourth, and
present, Lodge was the direct result of levee
improvements that the Army Corps of Engineers
began in 1928.3 Design and construction of the new
lodge fell to the Construction Division of the Army

Quartermasters Corp at Jeffersonville, Indiana, one
of several depots around the country which, prior to
World War II, provided the War Department with
most of its barracks, quarters, hospitals, roads, and
other structures. Details of design and construction
of this lodge will be presented in the following sec-
tion of this report.

Construction of this Lodge also included construc-
tion of a brick garage and utility building just west of
the house. This combination of uses in a single
structure is probably what led to the National Reg-
ister nomination mistakenly identifying two sepa-
rate buildings, a “maintenance building” and a
“carriage house. . . presently used as a garage.”In

13. In 1887 a new road was built from Jackson Barracks to
the main entrance at the south end of the cemetery.
Five years later, the cemetery walls were extended to
the new road, and according to Risk, the 1880 Lodge
was replaced at that time. However, Greene does not
document a new lodge in 1892, and no photograph,
mention, or other description of this lodge has been
located. Given the building depicted in the 1911 map
in Figure 5, it is most likely that the supposition of an
1892 lodge is incorrect and that the levee work in
1929 led to demolition of the 1880 lodge, the
specifications for which were included as Appendix B
in the park’s historic resource study.

FIGURE 10. Aerial view northeast of Chalmette Cemetery in 1960, with levee in foreground and St. Bernard

Highway running across the upper portion of this image. (JELA Coll.)
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fact, they are the same building, although the build-
ing may have had later alterations and additions,
historic or otherwise. In addition, the garage and
maintenance building was probably never used as a
carriage house, at least not in the usual sense of that
term, although caissons, wagons, or other horse-
drawn vehicles that could have been used in military
funerals might have been kept there along with
maintenance vehicles and the superintendent’s
automobile.

Significance

The Superintendent's Lodge is a contributing
building in the Chalmette Unit of Jean Lafitte NHP

Part I: Developmental History

Historic District and is significant for its associa-
tions with the cemetery and battlefield park. The
park was administratively listed on the National
Register of Historic Places on October 15, 1966. The
confirming documentation was completed and
accepted by the Keeper on July 6,1987. According to
the National Register nomination, the cemetery
lodge and the adjacent maintenance building

typify government buildings erected in national
cemeteries during the early decades of the
twentieth century. The structures have changed
little and possess integrity of location, design,
materials, and workmanship and embody the
characteristics of the construction of national
cemetery buildings of the 1920s and 1930s.

National Park Service 13
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Chronology of

Development and Use

As noted in the historical overview, construction of
anew lodge for the superintendent at Chalmette
National Cemetery was a direct result of the 1928
levee improvements that necessitated removal of
the old lodge. Plans and specifications were com-
plete by the middle of December 1928, and the new
house was completed the following year. Major
alterations and additions in 1934, 1951, 1952, and 1965
brought the house to its current configuration. The
building ceased to be used as a residence in 1979
when it was adapted as administrative headquarters
for the Chalmette Unit of the newly created Jean
Lafitte National Historical Park and Preserve.

Design and
Construction

On December 12, 1928, the construction division of
the War Department’s Quartermaster Corps at Jef-
fersonville, Indiana, completed plans and specifica-
tions for the new lodge at Chalmette Cemetery (see
Appendix A). Presumably, these were put out for
bidding shortly after that time. The builder has not
yet been identified, but subsequent NPS reports on
the building (see Appendix B) state that it was com-
pleted in 1929 at a cost of $9,224.20.

i3 et
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FIGURE 11. The earliest known image of the Chalmette Cemetery lodge, c. 1937. Note the chimney on

the southeast side of the house, although it appears to have already lost part of its stack by the time

this image was made. (From Risk’s Cultural Landscape Report)

National Park Service 15
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American Four-Square

The actual designer of the Chalmette lodge is not
known, but whoever it was simply adapted a basic
plan that, by the late 1920s, had been replicated
across the country tens of thousands of times over
the preceding twenty- five years. A vernacular
building type generally referred to as American
Four- Square, the design was particularly suitable
for prefabrication and mail- order sale by Sears,
Montgomery- Ward, Alladin and others.

Typical of the style were the simple box shape, two
or two- and- a- half stories with four main rooms on
each floor, a hipped or pyramidal roof with wide
eaves, often a large central dormer, and a full- width
porch with wide stairs. Four- Square houses were
built in brick, stone, stucco, concrete block, and
wood and, although architectural details were typi-
cally restrained, theyoften incorporated stylistic
details that relate them to the eclectic styles of the
early twentieth century, especially Craftsman,
Renaissance Revival, Mission, Tudor, and Colonial
Revival.
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FIGURE 12. A 1929 American Four-Square design
offered by Sears.

16 Chalmette Cemetery Superintendent’s Lodge HSR

Construction Changes

No completion report on the building’s construc-
tion has been located and the plans and specifica-
tions included several alternates that were to be
included in the contractor’s proposals. Neverthe-
less, in spite of subsequent alterations to the build-
ing, building investigation in the course of the
present report suggest that the building was con-
structed more or less as specified and make it possi-
ble to determine which of the major alternates were
chosen.

The most significant of the alternates concerned the
masonry walls of the house, which could be con-
structed entirely of brick or, alternatively, using a
hollow, terra- cotta “backup tile” with a veneer of
face brick." Probably for reasons of cost, the alter-
nate was used, and the walls were constructed using
hollow tile and a brick veneer, a method of con-
struction that was widely used in the 1920s. It is not
known if construction utilized “brick- sized tile” or
“heavy galvanized wall ties,” which were the alterna-
tives allowed by the specifications, to bond the brick
veneer and the tiles. As specified, the interior face of
the tile was covered with an asphalt- based water-
proofing prior to installation of the plaster.

Proposals were also to have included an alternate for
a deduction “in case all painting and varnishing of
the interior woodwork and floors is [sic] omitted.”
Although painting and varnishing must have
occurred, who completed that work is not known.

The original plans show a back porch spanning only
half the rear of the house, but the specifications
called for contractors to submit proposals with
alternates for a full- length back porch as well as for
no porch at all. Since there is no evidence to suggest
that the existing porch was an addition and no con-
struction joint or other physical evidence to indicate
it was ever lengthened, it is assumed that the present
back porch was part of the building’s original con-
struction.

Specifications for the roof stated that “#1 rigid
asbestos shingles, blue gray, slate- colored, or emer-
ald green” would be used, and that “light gray will
not be acceptable” Which of these colors was used

14. See Thomas C. Jester, Twentieth Century Building
Materials (McGraw-Hill, 1995), pp. 150-155, for a
history of this modern building material.



has not been documented, since the existing asbes-
tos roof covering dates to 1957.

Flashing, gutters, and downspouts were specified as
16 oz. copper, with ogee gutters and rectangular
downspouts. The latter were removed in 1993, but
historic photographs document their existence.

A note on the first sheet of the plans states “ALL
PORCH COLUMNS. C.1. [i.e., cast iron] COLS
FROM OLD LODGE FURNISHED BY GOV. TO
BE SET BY CONTRACTOR.” Whether for econ-
omy, aesthetics, or other reasons, the twelve col-
umns used for the porches were apparently salvaged
from the previous lodge that had been constructed
in 1880.

Of some interest is the specification of plaster board
for walls and ceilings in the lodge. Sometimes
known as “rock lath,” plaster board represents a
sort of transition between traditional plaster on
wood lath and modern drywall. Much less labor-
intensive to install than wood lath, plaster board
could be quickly installed as a base for a traditional
plaster finish. Developed in the early 1900s, plaster
board did not come into wide- spread use until the
19208, but by the late 1930s, it had almost entirely
replaced wood lath for plaster walls and ceilings. In
the early 1950s, conventional sheets of gypsum dry-
wall eliminated plaster entirely except for certain
speciality applications.

War Department
Alterations, 1929-
1949

Prior to World War II, there were four major
changes to the house, each of which would have
added to the building’s livability. Physical evidence
for all of these alterations can be observed in the
present building, and NPS documents provide
dates and construction costs.

Front Porch Screening, 1931

It must have been immediately clear that an
unscreened porch was of limited utility in an envi-
ronment like that at Chalmette, and in 1931, the front
porch was screened at a cost of $165. Framing for
the screening was set behind the columns, following
a line that is still evident on the floor of the present

Part |I: Developmental History

FIGURE 13. View of front porch floor with arrows
indicating where screen framing was attached to
the floor.

porch. The front porch screening was removed
around 1979 when the residence was rehabilitated
for offices.

Sleeping Porch, 1934

In the first three or four decades of the twentieth
century, “sleeping porches” were wildly popular
throughout the country, either as an original feature
or as a later addition. Typically located on the sec-
ond floor and at the side or rear of the house, sleep-
ing porches might be simple screened enclosures or
they could have screened and movable sash.

Sleeping porches were almost never heated, which
was often the case with bedrooms prior to the
wide- spread use of central heating. Sleeping
porches, or “TB rooms,” as they were sometime
called, were a response to the widely- held belief
that fresh air, especially while sleeping, was critical
to recovery from tuberculosis and other diseases
and for maintenance of good health in general. In

National Park Service 17
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particular it was felt that sleeping in a heated space
was detrimental to one’s health, a notion that
formed the premise for director Leslie Pierce’s 1929
film “Sleeping Porch,” a comedy the plot of which
revolves around a wife’s efforts to get her husband
to use their unheated sleeping porch. While health
considerations helped popularize sleeping porches
initially, the comfort of cool nighttime breezes was
reason enough to maintain a sleeping porch in the
south.

No doubt, providing a cooler place to sleep was the
primary reason for construction of a sleeping porch
above the back porch at the Chalmette lodge, a
project that was completed in 1934 at a cost of
$295.33. Plans (see Appendix A) but no specifica-
tions survive for this addition, and it appears there
were some changes during construction. Most sig-
nificantly, only one pair of casement windows, not
the two that were specified, was used at each end of
the porch, and slightly narrower sash than shown on
the plans were used across the back side of the
porch. An analysis of painted finishes or of the

FIGURE 15. View of Chalmette Lodge in the 1950s. (JELA Coll.)
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framing of the sleeping porch would be necessary to
confirm these assumptions. However, the existing
siding on the sleeping porch is not the same as that
used on the 1965 laundry room addition to the back
porch, an addition which is contemporaneous with
the aluminum windows that replaced most of the
original sleeping porch sash and some on the main
block of the house around that same time.

The interior walls and ceiling of the sleeping porch
were finished with panels of wallboard with joints
covered by strips of wood lattice. Manufactured
from wood fiber or other cellulose material, wall-
board began to be mass- produced in the 1910s and
was initially marketed as a replacement for paneled
and plaster walls. The Beaver Board Company, the
Homosote Company, and Mason Fiber Company
(later the Masonite Company) were the most prom-
inent of early manufacturers of this product. In 1920,
the Celotex Company made the first wallboard
using bagasse, the fibrous residue from pressed
sugar cane.”> Under the depressed economic condi-
tions of the 1930s, wallboard was widely used as an




inexpensive finish material, especially in secondary
rooms or previously unfinished spaces like attics
and basements.

Back Porch Screening, 1936

While the screened front porch provided the care-
taker and his family with a comfortable place to
relax, its southern orientation would have been less
than ideal in summer, and in 1936 the decision was
made to screen the back porch as well. Almost
always in shade, it would have also provided more
comfort for the utilitarian chores generally con-
signed to a back porch. Although most if not all of
that screening was removed when the northwest
end of the porch was enclosed in 1965, physical evi-
dence for the screening survives on the floor of the
present porch.

1937 Central Heating

Somewhat surprisingly, the Chalmette lodge was
apparently built without central heating, depending
entirely on the single fire place in the living room
and wood- burning stoves in the kitchen, office, and
one of the upstairs bedrooms. In 1937, however, the
decision was made to install a central, coal- fired,
steam- heating system.

Installation of this system, which cost $1,987.26,
included construction of a brick chimney for the
boiler that a steam- heating system required. The
boiler itself was apparently installed in a basement
that was created under the dining room. One of the
crawl space vents was replaced by the present top-
hinged door that must have been installed for deliv-
ery of coal to the boiler room. While a basement in
an environment with a high water table like the one
at Chalmette may not seem feasible, NPS docu-
ments (see Appendix B) clearly refer to a “base-
ment” and there is no other place in which a boiler
could have been located. The system was removed
in the early 1950s and the only evidence today for its
existence is the chimney rising at the rear of the
house, the brick walls of the basement, and perhaps
a dozen holes in the floors where steam pipes were
run. Although there is no documentation, the base-
ment must have been filled to the original grade
after the boiler was removed. Little additional work
on the house appears to have been accomplished
prior to transfer of the cemetery from the War

15. See Jester, pp. 120-125 for more on the history of this
modern building material.
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FIGURE 14. An advertisement from the 1912 Beaver

Board catalog, showin
used to finish a room.

G

how wallboard could be
rom Jester, p. 123).

National Park Service 19



Chronology of Development and Use

FIGURE 17. View of Lodge, c. 2004. (NPS, SERO-CRD)
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Department to the National Park Service in 1949,
although the exterior woodwork was probably
painted during that period.

NPS Modifications,
1949-1979

Under NPS management, the Chalmette lodge
underwent a number of modifications as it contin-
ued in use as a residence for the superintendent.
These modifications included changes to the origi-
nal floor plan, the addition of a half bath, a new
heating system and, later, air- conditioning, as well
as enclosure of half of the back porch.

Floor Plan

The first NPS modification occurred in February
1951 when most of the wall between the living room
(ro1) and dining room (104) was removed, at a cost of
$184.00. The rooms were originally separated by a
wall with a large cased opening about six feet wide.
Areflection of the increased informality of Ameri-
can interiors after World War II, this alteration
combined the two rooms into a single large space
that probably functioned as a sort of “family room,’
as was typical of many post- war residences. The
most clear physical evidence for this alteration is in
the slight irregularities in the flooring that covered
the areas where the wall was removed.

“Wash Room”

In June 1952, a half bath was added by enclosing a
small part of the back porch and creating a new
door opening from the passage between the kitchen
(103) and dining room (104). With part of the space
occupied by the 1937 chimney stack, there was room
only for a toilet and a wall- hung sink. The chimney
was furred out and, along with the walls, covered
with wallboard, similar to what had been used in
finishing the sleeping porch in 1934. Cost of creating
this “wash room” was given as $283.00.

Floor Furnaces

In February 1954, the steam- heating system, then
less than twenty years old, was replaced by a pair of
gas- fired floor furnaces. The old boiler, radiators,
and steam pipes were entirely removed, and the
basement was probably filled at the same time.
Large floor openings were created to accommodate
the floor furnaces. The one in the dining room



(Room 104) measures 22- 3/4” by 42- 1/2” and,
according to park records, held a 65,000 BTU fur-
nace. The opening in the office (Room 102) is 22’ by
31- 1/2” and held a 35000BTU furnace. In order for
the furnaces to heat most of the house (the sleeping
porch remained unheated), registers were cut
through the floors in the second- floor bedrooms,
allowing hot air to rise into those rooms from the
floor furnaces on the first floor. Later documents
mention the presence of a wall furnace, which may
have been contemporaneous with the floor fur-
naces, but its location has not been documented.

Hurricanes

Two major hurricanes struck Louisiana in the two
decades after World War II. The first was Hurricane
Audrey, one of the deadliest storms in U. S. history.
It struck Cameron Parish in western Louisiana in
June 1957 but caused significant damage in the New
Orleans area. The second major storm was Hurri-
cane Betsy, which scored a direct hit on New
Orleans in September 1965 and precipitated damage

FIGURE 18. View of the Lodge, c. 2004. (NPS, SERO-CRD)
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and loss of life that the city would not see again until
Katrina devastated the city in 2005.

The nature of the damage that might have occurred
at Chalmette during these storms has not been doc-
umented, but it was probably damage from Hurri-
cane Audrey that necessitated installation of a new
roof on the Chalmette lodge in 1957. The new roof-
ing was also cement- asbestos shingles, but instead
of the original “American Method” installation, the
“Dutch- lap” method was used, with shingles
applied to overlap adjacent shingles. That roof cov-
ering remains on the house today. New awnings
were installed on the house in 1958, perhaps to
replace awnings damaged during Audrey.

1965 Rehabilitation

After Superintendent Linch’s retirement in 1964, the
Lodge underwent significant rehabilitation in the
spring of 1965. The work included four main com-
ponents: enclosure of part of the back porch for a
laundry room, installation of closets in the sleeping
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porch, remodeling of the second- floor bathroom,
and rewiring of the house to allow installation of
window- mounted air- conditioning units.

Three contractors appear to have been involved
with executing the work (see documents in Appen-
dix B). Ed Bell, contractor for Pelican Remodelers
on Ursuline Avenue in New Orleans, apparently
submitted the winning bid for enclosing the back
porch and installing closets in the sleeping porch.
His lump- sum quotation amounted to $790.00 and
the completed work was accepted on April 23, 1965.

Rene Dauterive Plumbing and Heating Company of
Arabi, Louisiana, was apparently chosen to run new
supply and waste lines for the utility room and to
replace the supply lines to the upstairs bathroom
and to the kitchen. The half- bath supply lines were
not replaced. In addition, Dauterive’s proposal
included replacement of the original lavatory in the
second- floor bathroom with a “new vanity lava-
tory... to be selected by the superintendent.” Cost of
the proposed work was put at $255.43.

22 Chalmette Cemetery Superintendent’s Lodge HSR

FIGURE 19. View of Lodge after Katrina, fall 2005. (NPS, SERO-CRD.)

The final component of the 1965 rehabilitation of the
residence was the addition of a number of electrical
outlets throughout the house, the extent of which
probably required an upgrade in the electrical ser-
vice to the house. Accomplished by F & S Electric of
Chalmette, Louisiana, at a cost of $324.00, the work
included the addition of 220 volt receptacles in the
living room, dining room, and the two front bed-
rooms on the second floor. A 220 volt outlet had
probably already been added in the office (Room
102), and all of these outlets were intended to power
window- mounted air- conditioning units.

Central Air-Conditioning

In 1972, the decision was made to install a new cen-
tral air- conditioning system in the house. The work
included removal of the old floor and wall furnaces
and installation of a double- zoned system served by
an Arkla Servel Chiller and two furnaces, one
located in the crawl space beneath the office (Room
102) and the other in the attic above the stair hall.
Ducts were run to new registers that would provide
heating and cooling for all major rooms. For the first
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time, the sleeping porch would cease to be an
unheated space. The work was completed by Loui-
siana Gas Service Company in February 1973 at a
cost of $3,865.00.

Aluminum Windows

It is not clear when the existing aluminum- framed
windows were installed in the house, but at some
point all of the casement sash across the rear of the
sleeping porch as well as the double- hung sash in
the two pairs of windows at the front of the second
floor were replaced with the present aluminum
windows. The character of these windows suggests
that they could have been installed as early as the
1965 rehabilitation or as late as the adaptation of the
building for administrative offices in 1979.

Recent Alterations

In October 1978, Congressional legislation incorpo-
rated Chalmette Battlefield and National Cemetery
into the new Jean Lafitte National Historical Park
and Preserve. Creation of the new park brought a

Part |I: Developmental History

need for administrative offices that coincided with
the NPS move away from on- site housing for
superintendents. As a result, the Chalmette lodge
ceased to be used as a residence in 1978 and was
adapted for administrative offices for the Chalmette
unit of the new park. Among the changes that
occurred at that time were replacement of all of the
historic light fixtures in the house and removal of
the screening on both porches.

In 1988 the built- up roof over the sleeping porch
and the asphalt shingles on the front porch were
replaced.’ In 1993 the gutters and downspouts were
replaced.

Katrina

Hurricane Katrina devastated Louisiana and the
central Gulf Coast on August 29, 2005. Storm surge
from the east inundated Chalmette, and water rose

16. Denver Technical Information Center files, JELA 467
80015.

FIGURE 20. View of garage after Katrina. (JELA Coll.)
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FIGURE 21. View of Rooms 101 and 104 in the Lodge
after Katrina. Arrow denotes high-water line. (JELA
Coll.)

as high as five feet inside the Lodge. In addition, the
east chimney collapsed onto the roof. Stabilization
of the building after the storm included removal of
ruined mechanical equipment and all plumbing fix-
tures on the first floor. In limited areas, the plaster
walls were removed to facilitate drying of wall cavi-
ties. Some sash were replaced with temporary lou-
vers, also to facilitate drying.
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Chalmette Cemetery Superintendent’s Lodge Chronology

1928

Flood Control act passed

1928, December 12

“Plans of Superintendent’s Lodge” completed by unknown architect at Army Quartermaster’s
Deport in Jeffersonville, Indiana

1929 Lodge constructed

1931 Front porch screened

1934 Sleeping porch added at second floor

1936 Rear porch screened

1937 “Basement” and steam heating system installed

1949, October 2

Building transferred to NPS from War Department

1951, February

Wall between living room and dining room (101 and 104) removed

1952, June

First floor half bath installed

1954, February

Floor furnaces installed, steam heating system removed

1957 New roof installed (Hurricane Audrey in June)
1958 New awnings installed
1965, April Southwest end of rear porch enclosed, closets constructed in sleeping porch

1973, January

New central heating and air-conditioning system installed; floor furnaces, wall furnace, and
five window air-conditioners removed

1978, October

Chalmette National Historical Park legislatively incorporated into Jean Lafitte NHP and
Preserve

1979, January

Superintendent Bienvenu retires

1979 Lodge rehabilitated for administrative offices for JELA
1988 Front porch and sleeping porch re-roofed

1993 Aluminum gutters and downspouts installed

2005, Aug 29 Hurricane Katrina floods Chalmette
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Physical
Description

Located just inside the main gates to Chalmette
National Cemetery and facing in a generally south-
easterly direction, the Lodge was built by the War
Department in 1929 as a residence for the ceme-
tery’s superintendent. With masonry exterior walls,
the building’s rectangular plan, two- story height,
full- width porch, and dormered hipped roof are
defining features of the American Four- Square, a
type of residential building that was wildly popular
from the 1890s through the 1920s. Fluted, cast- iron
columns with Corinthian capitals were salvaged
from the original 1880 superintendent’s residence
and relate the house to the Classical Revival. Known

FIGURE 24. View of entrance to Chalmette National Cemetery. (NPS, 2006)

as the Superintendent’s Lodge, the house includes
intact additions from 1934, 1952, and 1965 and con-
tinued to serve as a residence until the 198o0s when it
was rehabilitated for administrative

Floor plans of the existing building and typical molding
profiles may be found at the end of this section.

offices. Flooded to a depth of eight feet in Septem-
ber 2005, the building underwent emergency stabi-
lization but remained vacant in February 2006. This
physical description is based on a survey and non-
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destructive building investigation conducted on
February 16- 17, 2006. Unless otherwise noted, all
photography in this section is by the author.

Associated Site
Features

Set back about 40’ from the western side of the road
that bisects the cemetery, the house occupies a level
site within the cemetery walls that includes a con-
temporaneous garage and maintenance building and
a modern maintenance shed. The eastern corner of
the garage was badly damaged by a falling tree dur-
ing Hurricane Katrina, but the building has been
temporarily repaired and stabilized until permanent
repairs can be made. Although a number of them
were felled by the recent hurricane, mature
sycamores and sago palms still dot the site, and some
shrubbery remains on the southwest side of the
building.

Around the front porch of the Lodge, there are rem-
nants of the brick- lined flower beds that are visible
in historic photographs. In addition to the unpaved
driveway cut south of the house, there is a 47”- wide
concrete walkway from the cemetery road to the

front steps, and 34”- wide concrete walks lead from

FIGURE 25. View west of maintenance building. (NPS, 2006)
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the front and rear steps to the unpaved parking area
in front of the maintenance building.

Structure

The house has a reinforced- concrete foundation
and load- bearing exterior walls that are structural
clay tile. Roof, floors, ceilings, interior partitions,
and the rear additions are all wood- framed.

Foundation

The original specifications for construction called
for a continuous reinforced- concrete foundation
around the perimeter of the building and three
reinforced concrete piers, 12” by 12” in plan, spaced
along the center of the house from side to side. The
porches, too, were to be supported on piers, but
with a continuous curtain wall between the piers.
Although measurements were not taken, field
observations are consistent with construction spec-
ifications.

The foundation walls rise about 16” above grade, are
12” thick, and were specified to be set on spread

footings, 9” thick and 3’- 6” wide. Footings for piers
were also to be 9” thick but only 3’- 0” wide. The top
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FIGURE 26. View west of Lodge. (NPS, 2006)

FIGURE 27. View east of Lodge. (NPS, 2006)

National Park Service 29



Physical Description

FIGURE 28. View of juncture of brick veneer wall
and concrete foundation, with damp-proof
course visible.
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FIGURE 29. View of typical porch foundation vent.

FIGURE 30. View of altered foundation opening
on northeast side of house.
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of all footings was to be 4’- 0” below grade unless
“suitable bearing” could not be found. The above-
grade portions of the foundation received a rough,
“dash finish” as specified. The top of the foundation
was “damp- proofed” with an unidentified water-
proofing paint and asphalt “composition” shingles
embedded in mortar.

To provide ventilation of the crawl space under the
house, the foundation for the house itself was built
with five large openings, three on the northeast side
and two on the southwest side. Each opening is
around 18” high by 30” long and was originally cov-
ered with wooden lattice. These openings are now
covered with wood- framed screens, except for the
opening near the rear of the northeast side where
the opening was reduced in size and a cast- iron,
top- hinged door was installed when the building’s
first central heating system was installed in the
1930s. In addition, cast- iron grills measuring around
10” by 12” cover a pair of openings in the foundation
under the front porch and another pair under the
rear porch.

In 1937, a steam heating system was installed in the
house. A third chimney, which will be described
below, was built along with a brick enclosure of the
north quadrant of the crawl space, where an area
approximately 8’ by 17° has been enclosed by a brick
wall that extends to the bottom of the floor joists.
Referred to in some documents as a “basement”, it
was apparently filled when the steam system was
replaced in the 1950s and is now no more than a
crawl space.

Existing Condition. Although the foundation could
not be directly observed below grade, the above-
grade portions appear to be in excellent condition,
with no cracking or other signs of differential settle-
ment. One of the metal ventilation grills in the rear
foundation is missing, and the remaining grills and
the top- hinged crawl- space- access door are rust-
ing.

Exterior Walls

The exterior walls of the house are constructed of
hollow, clay tile. Tiles were specified as 8” by 5” by
12” on the first story and 4” by 5” by 12” on the sec-
ond. Only the former dimension could be directly
confirmed in the present building, but the walls’
thickness at the second floor suggest that the latter
dimension is accurate as well. After completion but



before application of interior finishes, the interior
face of the clay tiles was coated with an asphalt-
based waterproofing paint.

The exterior walls are veneered with brick, which is
presumably anchored to the tile by galvanized-
metal wall ties, since there are no header courses.
Face brick are machine- made, hard- fired, “cherry
red” in color, and scored vertically on each end and
on the outside face. Brick measure 2- 1/4” by 3-3/4”
by 8” and are laid up in a running bond using a
dark- gray, Portland- cement mortar with simple
concave joints. Flat, soldier arches over 3” angle
cast- iron lintels form all window openings, while
the three original door openings are formed by
shallow rowlock arches without the cast- iron lintel.
All original windows and door openings have 4”-
thick cast- stone sills.

Existing Condition. As with the foundation, there
are no signs of cracking or differential settlement in
the exterior walls of the house. In the limited areas
in which the clay tile could be observed, interior
water- proofing appears to remain intact and in
good condition. There has been some minor
repointing of the brick veneer, and much of the
dark- gray color of the mortar has been lost as lime
has leached to the service.

Wood Framing

Roof, floors, and interior partitions are all wood-
framed using standard- dimensional lumber. Fram-
ing material was specified as short- leaf pine, which
is what was probably used.

Joists. Floor joists are typically 1- 5/8” by 9-1/4”
(nominal 2” by 10”) set on centers 16” apart and,
according to the specifications, bridged every 8’
with 1” by 3” cross- bridging. Joists are decked with
7/8”- thick boards, laid on the diagonal and speci-
fied to be no more than 8” wide. Joists were let into
pockets in the masonry walls, and the specifications
called for second- floor joists to be “fire cut,” i.e.,
joist ends cut at an angle so that in case of fire the
joists might fall out of the masonry walls without
causing collapse of the wall itself. Finally, the speci-
fications called for “every sixth joist to be anchored
with strong wrought iron hangers securely built into
brickwork.” Neither the fire- cut ends nor the
wrought- iron hangers could be observed in the
present building.
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FIGURE 31. View of wood-framed window with
typical cast-iron angle-iron lintel and cast-stone sill.

FIGURE 32. View of water-proofed interior face of
structural clay tile walls behind plaster-board walls.

FIGURE 33. View of attic framing.
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FIGURE 34. View of typical column capitals.

il

FIGURE 35. View of typical column plinths.
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FIGURE 36. View southwest on front porch.
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Studs and Plates. Studs are typically 1- 5/8” by 3- 1/
2” (nominal 2” by 4”) on 16” centers. To accommo-
date sanitary waste lines, the southeast (front) wall
of the kitchen was framed with 1- 5/8” by 5-1/2”
studs. Sole plates are also nominally 2” by 4”7, and
top plates are composed of doubled 2” by 4” mem-
bers. The specifications called for approximately 2”
of concrete mortar to be placed between the studs at
the bottom of all walls to form a fire stop, but it is not
clear if this was done in all locations. Wooden fire
stops, 2” by 4” (nominal dimension), were also
specified, are visible in the kitchen, and were proba-
bly placed between studs half- way up all wood-
framed walls.

Rafters. Rafters are 1- 5/8” by 7- 3/8” (nominally 2”
by 8”) on 16” centers with a 3/4” by 9- 1/4” (nomi-
nally 1” by 10”) ridge board. The roof is stiffened by
the use of 3/4” by 7- 1/2” (nominally 1” by 8”) collar
beams connecting each pair of full rafters. Decking
uses the same material as the collar beams.

Additions. The three additions at the rear of the
house are conventionally framed using standard-
dimensioned 2” by 4” studs and sole and top plates.
Rafters for the sleeping porch are 2” by 6” (nominal
dimension). The bathroom and sleeping porch roof
and wall framing are sheathed, apparently with 1” by
8” (nominal dimension) material; on the 1965 addi-
tion, framing is not sheathed.

Existing Condition. Framing appears to be in
mostly good condition. The exceptions are the
additions on the back porch where the sole plate for
the 1965 addition is almost completely rotted away
and there is some termite damage in the northeast
wall of the 1952 bathroom addition. There is also
likely damage to the outer ends of the rafters for the
sleeping porch roof. In addition, only a small frac-
tion of the floor joists could be examined, and it is
likely, given the framing’s proximity to the ground,
that other, probably minor damage, may be discov-
ered.

Porches

The house was constructed with full- width,
hipped- roof, one- story porches at front and rear.
Both porches were screened in the 1930s, but
screening was removed in the 1980s, although some
if not all of the screened panels for the front porch



are reportedly in storage at the nearby Beauregard
House. A sleeping porch was added as a second
floor to the rear porch in 1934, and the rear porch is
now partially enclosed with other additions dating
to 1952 and 1965.

Both of the original porches were built on rein-
forced- concrete slabs, 57 thick, set on a continuous
concrete foundation. The front porch has three
concrete steps to the ground, each about 5” high, 12”
deep, and 7’ long, although the rise of the lowest
step has been reduced to only 3” by the thickness of
the concrete walkway to the road. Two steps
descend from the rear porch, each around 48” wide.
Both porches have low- pitched wood- framed roofs
set on 8” boxed headers around the outside perime-
ters of the porches. The headers are supported by
cast- iron columns that the original construction
drawings indicate were salvaged from “the old
lodge,” which was probably the lodge that was built
in 1882. Columns are fluted, 10’ high with Corinthian
capitals, and are set on 16” X 16” x 2” cast- iron
plinths. There are six columns on each porch, with
columns paired at each corner. Large, scrolled,
cast- iron consoles are placed at the junction of the
boxed ceiling headers and the brick walls of the
house. The porch ceilings are finished with 3- 1/4”-
wide, double- beaded, tongue- and- groove boards.
A simple 1” quarter round trims the juncture of the
ceiling and the outside header.

Existing Condition. Except for the alterations to
the rear porch and damage to the rear porch’s soffit,
which will be discussed below, the porches remain
in reasonably good condition. Some rusting of the
columns is evident, but the floor slab and ceiling
remain in good condition. The additions to the rear
porch were constructed in a way that does not
impact the columns or headers and appear to have
done only minimal damage to the ceiling boards.

Exterior Features

In addition to the brick veneer cladding the exterior
walls and the various components of the porches,
the exterior of the house has a number of wooden
elements, including windows and doors, soffit, and
fascia. The exterior of the three additions at the rear
of the house are also finished in wood siding.
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FIGURE 37. A typical 6/1 window.

FIGURE 38. One of the surviving pairs of original

sleeping porch windows.

FIGURE 39. Original sash, with hardware and
turned wooden bumpers intact.
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FIGURE 40. One of the original front doors.

FIGURE 41. View of one front door.
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Windows and Doors

Original windows are, with one exception, double-
hung, the exception being a fixed, single- light sash,
14” wide and 20” high, which lights the closet
between the two front bedrooms on the second
floor. Stiles and rails are all 2- 1/4” thick, and each of
the lower sash of the double- hung windows has a
pair of unusual turned bumpers, 7/8” by 1- 1/4”,
mounted on the top rail to prevent the sash from
lodging in the top channel when the sash is raised.
All of the double- hung windows have plain brass
sash locks with pairs of thumb lifts on the bottom
rail of the lower sash. Historic photographs show
wood- framed screens at the windows, but only the
pairs of hooks from which they were hung remain at
the windows. A second pair of hooks or brackets is
also present at most of the windows. Located near
the top corners of the window frames, these hooks
may have held storm sash, but that has not been
confirmed.

First- floor windows include two large openings on
the front of the house, both 3’- 8” by 4’- 8” with 8/1
sash; one window on the southwest side and one
window on the northwest side which are 2’- 8” by
4’- 8” with 6/1 sash; paired windows on the north-
east side which are each 2’- 4” by 4’- 8” with 6/1sash;
two windows flanking the northeast chimney which
are 2’- 2” by 4’- 8” with 4/1 sash; and two windows
on the northwest and southwest sides that are 2’- 8”
by 3’- 8” with 6/1 sash.

On the front at the second floor, there were origi-
nally two pairs of 2- 4” by 4’- 4” windows with 6/1
sash, but these have now been replaced with alumi-
num windows similar to those on the sleeping
porch. The remainder of the second floor windows
are original, 2’- 8” by 4’- 4” with 6/1 sash. The small
3- light horizontal sash that was originally installed
in the attic dormer has apparently been removed.

The second- floor sleeping porch was originally
constructed with ten pairs of six- light casement
windows, 1”’- 9” by 4’- 0” by 1- 3/8”, mounted on 3”
butt hinges. The eight pairs of windows across the
rear of the porch have since been replaced with 1/1
aluminum windows, but the original pair of win-
dows at each end of the porch remain intact.

Lighting the small half bath that was added on the
back porch in the 1950s is a single window, originally
hung with 3- light, top- hinged sash, 15” by 30” x 1- 3/



87, although the sash is now detached from the
frame. In the 1960s addition that infilled the west
end of the back porch is a single aluminum window,
2’-7” by 3’- 0”, similar to the aluminum windows
added in the second- floor sleeping porch.

The house was constructed with three exterior
doors, with two opening to the front porch and one
to the rear porch. All three doors are 2’- 9” by 6°- 8§”
by 1- 3/4”, each with six 12” by 12- 3/4” lights above a
single molded panel in the lower half of the door. In
addition, each door has a bottom- hinged transom,
14- 1/2” high, screened on the exterior. Doors are
hung with three, 4- 1/2” by 4- 1/2”, three- knuckle,
butt hinges. Entrance locksets include a mortise
lock as well as a separate keyed deadbolt that was
probably added at a later date.

Existing Condition. Windows and doors are in
mostly good condition, although built- up paint and
broken sash rope have rendered some sash inopera-
ble, and a few panes of glass are broken.

Eaves

Eaves on the main block of the house are 24” wide
and are boxed with a horizontal soffit finished with
3-1/4”- wide, double- beaded, tongue- and- groove
boards like those used for the porch ceilings. Three-
inch bed molding trims the soffit to the wall of the
house. Fascia is a plain 1” by 8” (nominal dimen-
sion). Eaves on the original porches differ slightly
from those on the main block of the house. Porch
eaves are around 16” wide and are boxed to the
rafters. Instead of bed molding, they are trimmed
with a 2- 1/2” cyma recta crown molding. Like the
eaves on the main block of the house, they are fin-
ished with 3-1/4”- wide, double- beaded, tongue-
and- groove boards.

The eaves of the sleeping porch that was added in
1934 are also boxed with horizontal soffits, finished
with plain 1” by 8” (nominal dimensions) boards.
The soffit is trimmed to the wall by a 2” double-
ogee crown molding.

Existing Condition. Eaves are in good condition
except on the back porch. There, an eight- foot sec-
tion near the middle of the porch has been severely
damaged by water penetration, probably through
faulty flashing around a plumbing vent stack that
penetrates the eaves at that location.
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FIGURE 42. Typical entry lockset.

FIGURE 43. View of southeast corner of eaves on
main block.

FIGURE 44. View of front porch eave and console.
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FIGURE 45. View of southwest end of sleeping porch..

FIGURE 46. View of added bathroom.
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Siding

The only siding on the original house is on the walls
of the dormer. It is clad with 1” by 6” (nominal
dimension) lapped siding, installed with mitered
corners. The three wood- framed additions at the
rear of the house are finished with wood siding and
trim. The sleeping porch (1934) and the bathroom
(1952) are finished with a similar drop siding. The
siding is around 3/4” by 5- 1/2”, with a rabbet along
the lower edge. Each board is molded to appear as
two 2- 1/4”- wide laps of siding, each with the outer
edge rounded.

On the sleeping porch, siding is butted to corner
boards that are around 3- 1/2” wide and is topped on
the sides by an 1” by 6”- 8” wide frieze board that is
cut to slope with the pitch of the roof. The frieze is
trimmed to the soffit with a 3” crown molding. On
the front of the sleeping porch, the frieze continues
as a 6” (nominal dimension) header for the window
openings. Window openings on the sleeping porch
are cased with 1” by 6” (nominal dimension) boards
and have a 1- 1/2”- thick sill. At the bathroom addi-
tion, the siding is laid over 1” by 8” (nominal dimen-
sion) sheathing and is butted to 2- 3/4”- wide corner
boards. Siding is run to the porch ceiling without a
frieze and is trimmed with quarter- round. On the
1965 addition, siding is installed directly against the
studs with only asphalt paper sheathing the framing.
Although the siding resembles that used on the ear-
lier additions, the siding on the 1965 addition actu-
ally consists of individual boards around 1/2” by 3- 1/
2” that are lapped with a 2- 1/2” to 3” reveal. Siding is
butted to corner boards and window and door cas-
ing that are 1” by 2- 1/2”.

Existing Condition. While the siding appears to be
in good condition except for deteriorating paint,
removal of a run of siding on the northeast side of
the bathroom revealed significant termite damage
between the sheathing and the siding. The 1965 sid-
ing remains in good condition, and because of its
elevation, the sleeping porch may not have suffered
damage.

Roofing

As noted above, the rafters are decked with 1” by 6”
tongue- and- groove boards, which is probably
overlaid with “slater’s felt” as called for in the origi-
nal specifications.'7 All of the original flashing
around the chimney, dormer, and front porch roof is
copper. The original cement- asbestos roofing was



apparently replaced in 1957 using a similar material.
The original specifications called for shingles
installed in the “American Method,” but the present
roofing on the main block of the house uses rectan-
gular cement- asbestos shingles laid in a “Dutch-
lap” method, where shingles are applied to overlap
adjacent shingles in each course as well as the
course below.”® The shingles were manufactured to
resemble slate and appear to have originally been
the blue- gray or slate- gray color specified in the
contract documents. Ridge caps were specified as
cement- asbestos as well.

Roofing on the front porch is asphalt shingle, which
probably replaced an earlier cement- asbestos roof.
The pent roof between the back porch and the
sleeping porch is metal. The roof of the sleeping
porch was not investigated, but the plans for its con-
struction in 1934 called for a tar- and- gravel roof.
Considering the extremely shallow slope of the
sleeping porch roof, that or something similar must
still be the roof covering.

The existing aluminum, ogee or K- style rain gutters
were installed in 1993 and may have replaced the
original copper gutters specified for the original
building.

Existing Condition. The surviving cement- asbes-
tos roof covering appears in good condition but sig-
nificant damage was done to the northeast shed of
the main roof when the chimney collapsed in the
2005 storm. All of the ridge cap is also missing from
the north ridge of the roof. The other roofs appear
to be functioning, although the pent roof at the rear
porch is rusting. The condition of the tar- and-
gravel roof of the sleeping porch was not examined.
Gutters are in fair condition, but appear to be
undersized. Along with temporary repairs to the
roof in the fall of 2005, temporary extensions were
added to the downspouts to keep run- off away
from the house.

The Plaque

Bolted to the front of the house between the two
doors is a large bronze plaque cast with Lincoln’s

17. "Slater’s felt” is an asphalt-impregnated building
paper used as an underlayment for slate, asphalt-
shingle, and other kinds of roofing.

18. See <http://www.usace.army.mil/usace-docs/armytm/
tm5-617/chap7.pdf>, accessed March 2, 2006.
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FIGURE 48. View of front dormer and capped
chimney.

ADDRESS BY FRESIDENT LINCOLN
AT THE DEDMCATION OF

THE CETTYSBURC NATIONAL CEMETERY
HOYESRBER 19, 1863,

FOUR SCORE AND SEVEN YEARS ACO OUR
FATHERS BROUGHT FORTH ON THIS CONTINENT,
A NEW NATION, CONCEIVED IN LIBERTY. AND
DEDICATED TO THE PROPOSITION THAT ALL WMEN
ARE CREATED EQUAL.

HOW WE ARE ENCACEDIN & CREAT CIVIL waR,
TESTING WHETHER THAT HATIOH, OGR ANY NATION
55 CONCEIWED AND SO0 DEDICATED. CAN LONG
ENDURE. WE ARE MET OW A CEEAT BATTLE-FIELD
OF THAT WiAR. WE HAVE COME TO DEDRCATE A
PORTION OF THAT FIELD, 4% A FINAL RESTING
PLACE FOR THOSE WHO HERE CAVE THEIR LIVES
THAT THAT MATHN BICHT LIVE.IT IS ALTOCETHER
FITTIME AKD FROFER THAT WE SHOULD DO THIS

BUT,IN 4 LARCER SENSE WE CAN NOT DEDICATE=
WE CAN MOT CONSECRATE=WE CAN NOT HALLOW=
THIS CROUND. THE BRAVE MEN, LIVING ANk DEAD,
WHE STRUCCLED HERE. HAVE COWSECRATED IT,
FAR ABDVE OUR POOR POWELR TO ADD Of DETAALT,
THE WORLD WILL LITTLE NOTE NGR LONG
REMEMBES WHAT WE S4Y HEAE. BUT IT CAN NEVER
FORCET WHAT THEY DID HERE. IT IS FO® US THE
LIYING, RATHER, TO B DEDCATED HERE TO THE
UNFINISHED WORKE WHICH THEY WHO FOUCHT
HERE HAYE THUSE FAR 50 WOBLY ADWARCERIT I8
MATHER FGR US TO BE HERE DDMCATED TO THE
CHEAT Talk REMAINIMNG BEFOAE US-THAT FROM
THELAE HOMORED DEAD WE TAKE INCRCASED
DEVOTION To THAT CAUSE FOM WHICH THEY CAVE
THE LAST Fuklk WEASURE OF DEYOTION - THAT
WE MERE HICHLY RESOLYE THAT THESE DEAD
SHALL NOT HaA¥E DIED 1N ¥AIN = THAT THIS
HATION, UNDER COO0. SHALL HAYE A NEW BIRTH
OF FREEDOM - AND THAT COVERNMENT GF THE
PLOFLE.BY THE PFEOPLE. FOR THE PEOPLE BHALL
HOT PERISH FROM THE EARTH.

FIGURE 49. View of plaque of Gettysburg Address
on front porch.
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FIGURE 51. View of southwest chimney.
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Gettysburg Address. Measuring around 3’ by 4- 1/2’,
its installation was part of the building’s original
specifications. Because Lincoln’s speech was made
on the occasion of the dedication of the country’s
first national cemetery, its text is often displayed at
national cemeteries.

Chimneys

The house has three brick chimneys, but none of
them is intact above the roofs. The principal chim-
ney, located on the northeast side of the house, was
destroyed during the recent hurricane. It has two
flues which originally served the living room fire-
place and a wood- burning stove in Room 201. Five
feet wide at its base, this chimney corbels to about
44” at the height of the first floor window lintels
before rising through the eaves and the roof. Origi-
nally rising some 7- 1/2’ above the roof, the upper
portion of this chimney was largely destroyed dur-
ing the recent hurricane. The cast- stone coping
which measures 4” by 21” by 46”and originally
capped the chimney, is now leaning against the front
porch. The chimney has been temporarily capped
just above the roof line, and brick from the chimney
are piled near the northeast end of the porch.

The chimney on the southwest side of the house is
also an original chimney, but the stack above the
roof was removed as early as the 1940s or early
1950s. Forty- two inches wide, this chimney also has
two flues, which originally served wood- burning
stoves in Rooms 102 and 103.

The third chimney is located near the center of the
rear of the house and was installed in 1937 to serve a
boiler for a steam- heating system that was installed
at the same time. The chimney measures about r’- 6’
by 2’- 6” and rises through the added first- floor
bathroom and through the sleeping porch but no
longer extends through the roof.

Existing Condition. The living room fireplace, in
addition to the three chimneys, is in good condition,
but only the northeast chimney stack still runs
through the roof.

Interior

The house is divided into eight main rooms, plus a
stair hall, one and a half bathrooms, and a utility
room. The interior of the house contains about 832



square feet on the first floor and around 970 square
feet on the second floor, for a total of just under 1600
square feet for the entire structure. Ceilings are at
nine feet on the first floor and at 8- 3” on the second
floor.

Floors

In the main block of the house, flooring is tongue-
and- groove laid over a diagonal subfloor. On the
first floor, flooring is 3/4” by 2-1/4” oak, while on
the second floor it is 3/4” by 3-1/4” pine. In the two
added rooms on the back porch (105 and 106), the
original concrete slab forms the floor for both
rooms. The sleeping porch flooring is also pine but
only 3/4” by 2- 3/8” wide.

At some point after construction, the kitchen (Room
103) flooring was covered with sheets of vinyl floor
covering and/or vinyl or rubber tiles, but all of this
material has been removed. In the second- floor
bathroom (Room 203) the original floor was appar-
ently wood, but it was covered with 9” by 9” rubber
or vinyl tile, probably in the 1960s, much of which
remains intact. That tile was later covered with sheet
vinyl floor covering, which has been partially
removed.

Existing Condition. In spite of flooding, the floor-
ing remains in surprisingly good condition, with
only minimal cupping and with buckled flooring
only in one or two isolated locations. It is unclear,
however, how much permanent discoloration has
occurred due to water damage. Mastics from rubber
or vinyl floor coverings cover much of the flooring
in Rooms 103 and 206, although the vinyl floor cov-
ering itself has been removed. In room 203, sheet
vinyl was installed over 9” by 9” vinyl tiles, much of
which remains intact, although in poor condition.
Remnants of carpet backing adhere to the flooring
in Rooms 101, 102, and 104. The flooring in Rooms
201, 202, 204, and 205 remains in good condition.

Three generations of heating systems have left a
variety of holes in all of the flooring except in the
sleeping porch. Near a window in each of the main
rooms on the first floor is a pair of round holes
about 2- 1/2” in diameter through which steam or
hot- water heating pipes were run. On the second
floor, there is only one such hole in each main room
(not including the sleeping porch). Larger openings
that may have accommodated floor furnaces were
cut into the floors in Rooms 102 and 104. The open-
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FIGURE 52. Oak flooring at location of former wall
between Rooms 101 and 104.
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FIGURE 53. Oak flooring in Room 103 with

mastic from vinyl floor coverings.

FIGURE 54. Pine floor in Room 202.
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FIGURE 55. View of scored plaster wainscot in
Room 103.

FIGURE 56. View of wall in Room 103 with
rock lath in adjacent room exposed.

FIGURE 57. View of original sand-
finished plaster in Room 103.
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ing in Room 104 is around 23” by 42” and the open-
ing in Room 102 is around 22” by 31”. Probably con-
temporaneous with these openings are the openings
through the first- floor ceilings to the second floor,
which are around 14” by 16”. Finally there are more-
recent openings in the floor of the main first- floor
rooms that are around 6” by 12” and were also cre-
ated for heating registers.

Walls and Ceilings

The original plaster walls and ceilings remain mostly
intact except in the kitchen where much of the
southeast wall has been removed. Plaster is installed
throughout using plaster board or “rock lath,” with
each board 16” wide and probably 32” long. Plaster
was originally sand- finished, but most of that tex-
ture has been obscured by subsequent coats of
paint.

In Room 103, the former kitchen, and Room 203, the
upstairs bathroom, a chair rail demarcates a wain-
scot that is about 43 high in the kitchen and about
46” in the bathroom. In both rooms, the wainscot is
composed of “Keene plaster,” an extremely hard,
dense plaster that was often used in kitchens and
baths. In the kitchen, the plaster wainscot is scored
to resemble 6” by 6” tiles, and in the bathroom it is
scored to resemble 3” by 6 tiles.

In the added sleeping porch (Room 206), original
walls and ceilings are 3/4”- thick sheets of fiber
board, with 1/4” by 1- 5/8” lattice strips covering the
joint between boards. The same material was also
used in Room 105 when it was constructed in 1952,
but there the ceiling is formed by the original
tongue- and- groove porch ceiling. In Room 106 and
in the closets in Room 206, all of which were created
in 1965, 1/2” drywall was used on the walls.

Existing Condition. In spite of flooding, most of the
surviving interior plaster remains sound. Most plas-
ter has been removed from the southeast wall of
Room 103, and there is significant ceiling damage in
Room 205. All of the fiberboard in Room 105 and all
drywall in Room 106 were removed during stabili-
zation after the flood. Fiberboard remains mostly
intact in Room 206, except for some holes punched
in the back wall and a panel of the ceiling which has
been removed. Painted finishes on all surfaces are in
fair to poor condition, with significant peeling and
flaking in the kitchen and bathroom.



Interior Doors

Original interior doors and the door to Room 105
are pine with five, horizontal, raised, cross panels.
Principal door openings in the house are 2’- §” by
6’- 8”; secondary openings including closet doors
are 2’- 6” by 6°- §”.

Hardware is brass, nickel plated in Room 203. Inte-
rior doors are hung with a pair of 3- 1/2”, three-
knuckle, butt hinges and fitted with a mortise lock.
Knobs and rosettes are round as are the separate
keyhole escutcheons. Most interior doors also had
door stops, many of which remain in place although
most have lost the original rubber tip. The stops are
brass in an unusual floor- mounted, L- shaped
design.

The door to the sleeping porch, which was added in
1934, is much like the original front doors, but origi-
nally with six- lights above a pair of horizontal raised
panels, instead of the single panel found in the
entrance doors.

A modern, hollow- core, flush door replaces the
original door between Rooms 101 and 102 and were
also used for the door openings created with Room
106.

Existing Condition. As noted above, one of the
original five- panel doors appears to have been
replaced, and the swinging door that was originally
in the opening between Rooms 103 and 104 is miss-
ing entirely, except for its two pivots. All of the other
doors appear to be accounted for, although some
were removed from their openings during stabiliza-
tion in 20035. In addition, the doors from the hall
(Room 204) into Rooms 201 and 205 have been
damaged, apparently during a burglary. The lock
stile of the door to Room 205 has been badly dam-
aged, with a large section of the stile missing. The
lock jamb of the door to Room 201 has suffered sim-
ilar damage.

Moldings

The original specifications called for all interior
wood trim to be pine and, although all of the wood-
work is now painted (except for flooring), it is likely
that woodwork is as specified. Most of the original
material remains intact and in good condition.
(Molding profiles may be found at the end of this
“Physical Description.”) Rooms 103 and 203, which
were respectively the kitchen and the original bath-

Part I:

Developmental History

FIGURE 58. View of typical original five-panel
interior door.

FIGURE 59. View of typical original interior door
hardware.
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FIGURE 60. View of typical door stop, minus some sort
of rubber feature that would have filled the hole.

FIGURE 61. View of staircase in Room 101.

FIGURE 62. View of typical window casing and stool.
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room, tongue- and- groove flooring may have been
covered by asphalt or rubber tile or linoleum at an
early date, and if a baseboard was ever present, there
is no evidence now for its existence. Instead a flexi-
ble, 4”- wide, rubber, wall base was used in this
room.

An 8”- wide molded baseboard is present in all
rooms except Rooms 103, 105, 106, 203, and 206. In
set- on, rubber base, commonly used with resilient
floor coverings, was used. In Room 206 the base-
board is a plain 3/4” by 3- 1/2” board. Any baseboard
that existed in Rooms 105 and 106 was removed
along with the wall coverings during stabilization
after the flood.

Original windows and doors throughout the house
use the same 4- 1/2”- wide, molded casing on both
head and side jambs, with mitered corners. Win-
dows on the first floor have a stool that is 1- 1/4” by
7-3/8”, a 4- 1/2” apron molded like the baseboards,
and 3/4” cove molding at the joint between the two.
Second- floor windows are finished in a similar
manner but, because of the thinner walls, the stool is
only 3- 1/4” wide. Window stop is 1/2” by 1- 1/8” with
arounded outside face.

Room 102 has a chair rail that appears to be original.
It is set about 34” above the floor and measures 3/4’
by 1- 1/2”. Rooms 103 and 204 also have 3- 3/4”- wide
chair rails that appear to be original.

Existing Condition. Moldings are generally in good
condition. Shoe molding is missing in rooms where
carpet or other floor coverings have been installed.
The chair rail in Room 103 is missing on the north-
west (rear) and southeast walls. The original chair
rail on the northwest wall of Room 203 has been
replaced with a smaller rail in a profile that differs
from the original.

Staircase

A flight of stairs with closed risers 7- 1/2” high
ascends in a straight run to the second floor from
the southwest side of Room 1o1. With a full stringer
against the wall, the first six steps are open on the
opposite side to Room r101. Treads are 10- 1/2” by
37”with a tread return that extends the lower six
stairs to 42”. Each tread is trimmed to the riser by
3/4” cove molding. A paneled newel post is located
at the foot of the stairs and on both sides of the top
of the stairs on the second floor. Each post is 5-1/2”
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square and is surmounted by a large turned finial.
The main newel post measures 68” from the floor to
the top of the finial; the second floor posts rise 44”.
At the open stairs in Room 101 and around the stair-
well at Room 204 a simple bannister runs from the
newel posts to the walls. The railing is a plain 1” by
4” board skirted by 1’ by 6” boards (both nominal
dimensions) with a single 1- 1/2” by 1- 1/2” baluster at
each step in Room 101 and with balusters on 9- 1/2”
centers around the second- floor stairwell. A mod-
ern round handrailing has been added to the wall
along the staircase.

Existing Condition. The staircase is in good condi-
tion. The only significant damage is the loss of part
of the finial on one of the second- floor newel posts.

Utilities

The house was wired for electricity and had running
water and indoor plumbing. When first constructed,
it did not have a central heating system.

FIGURE 63. View of electrical service at north
corner of house.

Electrical System

The house was originally wired with BX armored
cable, but nearly all elements of that system are no
longer extant. Most of the present wiring in the
house, including all of the surface- mounted wiring,
dates to renovations in 1965 and 1980, but the entire
system is now presumed ruined by the flood. None
of the light fixtures remain in the house. The service
panel and meter are all mounted on the exterior at
the north corner of the house.

Plumbing System

The cast- iron waste lines and vent stacks and most
of the galvanized- steel water lines serving the origi-
nal kitchen (Room 103) and bathroom (Room 203)
date to 1929. The galvanized supply and cast- iron
waste lines for the half bath (Room 105) date to 1952.
No sink or other fixtures have survived in Rooms
103 or 105. The sink, tub, and toilet in Room 203 date
to 1965.

Heating System

The house was originally heated by the fireplace in
Room 101 and stoves in Rooms 102, 103, 201, and 202.
Only the flues remain in place where there were
stoves, but the fireplace remains intact and, at least

until the chimney was destroyed during the recent FIGURE 64. View of original switch box and BX
electrical cable, abandoned in 1965.
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FIGURE 65. View of shower in Room 203.

FIGURE 67. View of original stove flue in
south corner of Room 103.

FIGURE 66. View of fireplace in Room 101.
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hurricane, apparently in working order. The brick
mantle measures about 60” wide by 53” to the bot-
tom of the mantle shelf, which is supported by a trio
of brick corbels. The shelf itself is 2- 1/2” by 11” by
64” with a 5- 1/2”- high backboard above the shelf
and trimmed by 2- 1/4” cyma- recta crown molding.
Abrick hearth laid in a herringbone pattern extends
15” into the room.

Ducts and registers from a modern HVAC system
that was first installed in 1973 remain in the house,
but the furnace, condenser and other mechanical
parts of the system are missing on the first floor. The
furnace for the second floor remains in place in the
attic.

Existing Condition. Although some components
might be suitable for re- use, most of the building’s
mechanical and electrical systems are either missing
or in poor condition.

The Rooms

The house was built with two front entrances, one
into the Living Room (Room 101) of the Superinten-
dent’s private residence, and the other into his
Office (Room 102), which was designated as such on
the original plans for the building. Behind the Living
Room was a Dining Room (Room 104) with a
swinging door into the Kitchen (Room 103), which
also connected to the Office. In 1951 the Living
Room and Dining Room were more or less com-
bined by removing the common wall between the
two. In 1952. a small half bath or “powder room”
(Room 105) was constructed on the back porch, with
anew door opening from the passage between the
Kitchen and the Dining Room. In 1965, the western
end of the back porch was enclosed to create a
Laundry or Utility Room (Room 106).

The second floor originally consisted of a Stair Hall
(Room 204), a Bathroom (Room 203), and three
Bedrooms (Room 201, 202, and 204), with the size of
Room 202 indicating that it was used as a master
bedroom. Only the two front bedrooms had closets.
In 1934 house originally had four main rooms on
each floor, plus a stair hall, bath, and three closets. A
sleeping porch was added in 1934, a half bath in 1952,
and a utility or laundry room in 1965.
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Living Room (101) and Dining Room
(104)

FIGURE 68. View south (above) and north (below), showing Rooms 101 and 104.
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Office (Room 103)
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FIGURE 69. View north (above), west (lower left), and east (lower right) in Room 102.,
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Kitchen (103)

FIGURE 70. View north (above) and south (below) in Room 103.
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“Powder Room” (105)

FIGURE 71. View northeast (left) and north (right) in Room 105. The odd framing visible in the
right-hand image was probably to accommodate a wall-hung toilet tank.
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Laundry or Utility Room (106)

FIGURE 72. View west (left) and east (right) in Room 106.
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Stair Hall (204)

i

FIGURE 73. View west (upper left), southeast down staircase (upper right), and east (below).
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Master Bedroom (202)
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FIGURE 74. View south in Room 202.

FIGURE 75. View north in Room 202.

National Park Service 51



Physical Description

Front Bedroom (201)

| ]
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Bathroom (Room 203)
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Back Bedroom (Room 205) Sleeping Porch (Room 206)
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Treatment and
Use

Built in 1929, the Superintendent’s Lodge at Chal-
mette Cemetery is a National Register property sig-
nificant for its associations with the cemetery and
an excellent example of War Department architec-
ture in our national cemeteries in the 1920s and
1930s. The purpose of the present HSR has been not
only to document the building’s history but also to
provide recommendations for treatment and use
after it was damaged by Hurricane Katrina in 2005.

Requirements for
Treatment and Use

Good stewardship of an historic structure requires
careful control over treatment and use, beginning
with basic, common- sense guidelines. The building
must be carefully monitored, particularly after
storms or heavy rains, and should be thoroughly
inspected at least once a year. Data documenting
the building’s condition should be recorded and
analyzed to determine any necessary treatment or
changes in use. Any ground disturbance around the
building should always be cleared or monitored by
an archeologist.

Any work on the Lodge, including routine mainte-
nance, should be done by qualified people in con-
formance with approved plans and specifications or
work procedures. All maintenance personnel who
work in, on, or around the building should be given
appropriate training, and the entire park staff
should be made aware of the significance of the
Lodge and the major threats to its preservation,
which are inappropriate treatments, insects, and
water- induced mold and rot.

Legal Requirements

A number of laws and regulations circumscribe
treatment and use of the Lodge and the other his-
toric structures in our national parks. In addition to

protecting the cultural resource, these requirements
also address issues of human safety, fire protection,
energy conservation, abatement of hazardous
materials, and handicapped accessibility.

National Historic Preservation Act. The National
Historic Preservation Act of 1966 as amended
(NHPA) mandates Federal protection of significant
cultural resources. In implementing the act, a num-
ber of laws and authorities have been established
that are binding on the NPS. A routine step in the
park’s planning process for the treatment of historic
structures is compliance with Section 106 of NHPA,
which requires Federal agencies “to take into
account the effect” of any undertaking involving
Nationial Register properties. To satisfy the
requirements of Section 106, regulations have been
promulgated (36 CFR Part 8oo,"Protection of His-
toric Properties") that require, among other things,
consultation with local governments, State Historic
Preservation Officers, Indian tribal representatives,
and others with an interest in the property.

In 1995, in an effort to expedite the review process, a
programmatic agreement was made between the
Advisory Council and the NPS that allows for a cat-
egorical exclusion of some activities from the full
Section 106 review process. These excluded activi-
ties are limited to routine repairs and maintenance
that do not alter the appearance of the historic
structure or involve widespread or total replace-
ment of historic features or materials.

Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990. The
Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA)
establishes comprehensive civil rights protection for
disabled Americans, both in employment and in
their right to free, unaided access to public build-
ings. While people with restricted mobility have
most frequently benefited from ADA, protection
also extends to those with other disabilities. This
would include visitors with impaired vision or hear-
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ing, for whom printed tour scripts and audio tours
allow interpretation of the site.

Requirements for full compliance with ADA regula-
tions are extensive and easiest to apply to new con-
struction. Full compliance for historic buildings is
more difficult and sometimes would require signifi-
cant alterations to the historic character of the
property. Where that is the case, ADA authorizes a
process for arriving at alternatives to full compli-
ance that can preserve historic character while
maximizing a disabled visitor’s access to the historic
building.

International Building Code. Building codes are
generally applicable to all buildings whether they
are historic or not. As a matter of policy, the NPS is
guided by the International Building Code, which
includes this statement regarding codes and historic
buildings:

3406.1 Historic Buildings: The provisions of this
code related to the construction, repair,
alteration, addition, restoration and movement
of structures, and change of occupancy shall not
be mandatory for historic buildings where such
buildings are judged by the building official to
not constitute a distinct life safety hazard
[emphasis added].

Threats to public health and safety should always be
eliminated, but because this is an historic building,
alternatives to full code compliance are always
sought where compliance would needlessly com-
promise the integrity of the historic building.

NFPA Code 914. The National Fire Protection
Association (NFPA) has promulgated codes for his-
toric buildings, most notably NFPA 9og, “Code for
the Protection of Cultural Resources Properties -
Museums, Libraries, and Places of Worship,” and
NFPA 914, “Code for Fire Protection of Historic
Structures.” If the building is rewired and a sprin-
kler system installed, fire protection will revolve
around fire prevention through prohibiting storage
of flammable materials and smoking inside the
building.

DOI and NPS Policies and
Regulations

NPS policy requires planning for the protection of
cultural resources “whether or not they relate to the
specific authorizing legislation or interpretive pro-
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grams of the parks in which they lie” Thus, the
Lodge should be understood in its own cultural
context and managed in light of its own values so
that it may be preserved unimpaired for the enjoy-
ment of present and future generations."

In addition to Director’s Order (DO) 28, “Cultural
Resource Management Guideline,” which has
guided development of this historic structure
report, the Secretary of the Interior and the Direc-
tor of the National Park Service have issued other
policies and regulations that circumscribe treatment
of historic buildings. DO- 58, for example, requires
installation of systems for fire detection and sup-
pression whenever a building is undergoing reha-
bilitation.

Secretary’s Standards. The Secretary of the Inte-
rior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Prop-
erties have established a framework in which to plan
and execute treatment of historic structures.
Guidelines for interpreting the Standards have been
issued, and the NPS has also published forty- two
Preservation Briefs that provide detailed direction
for appropriate treatment of a variety of materials,
features, and conditions found in historic buildings.

Regardless of treatment approach, the Standards
put a high priority on preservation of existing his-
toric materials and not just the architectural form
and style. Replacement of a column, for instance,
even when replacement is “in kind,” diminishes the
authenticity of the building, if for no other reason
than the elimination of the evidence of the passage
of time. The Standards also require that any alter-
ations, additions, or other modifications be revers-
ible, i.e., designed and constructed in such a way
that they can be removed or reversed in the future
without the loss of existing historic materials, fea-
tures, or character.

General Management Policies. Finally, the NPS
General Management Policies (2001) guide overall
management of historic buildings in the parks,
especially Chapter 5 “Cultural Resource Manage-
ment” Based upon the authority of some nineteen
Acts of Congress and many more Executive orders
and regulations, these policies require

planning to ensure that management processes
for making decisions and setting priorities

19. “Cultural Resource Management Guidelines,” (1997),
p. 1



integrate information about cultural resources,
and provide for consultation and collaboration
with outside entities; and stewardship to ensure
that cultural resources are preserved and
protected, receive appropriate treatments
(including maintenance), and are made available
for public understanding and enjoyment.*°

Section 5.3.5, “Treatment of Cultural Resources,”
provides specific directives, including a directive
that “the preservation of cultural resources in their
existing states will always receive first consider-
ation.” The section also states that

treatments entailing greater intervention will not
proceed without the consideration of
interpretive alternatives. The appearance and
condition of resources before treatment, and
changes made during treatment, will be
documented. Such documentation will be
shared with any appropriate state or tribal
historic preservation office or certified local
government, and added to the park museum
cataloging system. Pending treatment decisions
reached through the planning process, all
resources will be protected and preserved in
their existing states.*"

Ultimate
Treatment and Use

The Chalmette Battlefield and Cemetery Visitors
Center was heavily damaged by the hurricane and
flooding in 2005 and had to be razed. The Lodge,
too, suffered damage, mostly from flooding, and is
now vacant.

Use

One of the primary concerns in the preservation of
historic buildings is use. An unused building is
much less likely to attract the attention (and conse-
quent funding) necessary to insure its continued
preservation. On the other hand, a poorly con-
ceived program of use can lead to significant loss of
historic material and compromise of historic char-
acter.

Park administration suffers from a severe lack of
office space until the visitors center can be rebuilt,
and even when a new visitors center is completed,
use of the Lodge for administrative offices will

20. NPS General Management Policies (2001), p. 50.
21. NPS General Management Policies (2001), p. 56
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probably be necessary. Current plans call for a

return of the park’s interpretive staff to their pre-
Katrina offices in the Lodge. Use of part of the
building for exhibits or other visitor contact has also
been proposed.

Treatment

Recommended treatment is rehabilitation of the
existing building, which was adapted for office use
twenty- five years ago. Essentially this approach
would restore the building to its pre- Katrina
condition, but due to the poor condition of and lack
of utility for the post- WWII additions to the back
porch, they would be removed.

Alternatives for
Treatment and Use

Historic structure reports typically consider and
evaluate alternative uses and treatments for the his-
toric structure. Emphasis is on preserving extant
historic material and resolving conflicts, especially
those that might result between the mandate to pre-
serve and the necessity for use.

Use

Historically used as a residence, the Lodge has been
used for administrative offices for the last twenty-
five years. Because it was designed for residential
use, a return to residential occupancy remains an
option that would have the least impact on the
building’s historic character. The Lodge could
provide accommodations for official park visitors,
or the park might even consider an on- site
cemetery superintendent or caretaker. In either
case, additional park staff would probably be
necessary.

The house might also be restored, with recreated
historic interiors, and operated as a house museum.
For over a hundred years, a resident superintendent
was always present and although the present Lodge
represents only the second quarter of the twentieth
century, it provides an opportunity for interpreting
the entire historic period. Such an approach to use
of the Lodge would, however, be expensive to
support and would also be well outside the present
interpretive focus of the park.

Treatment
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The quality of the architecture of the Lodge dictates
careful consideration of any treatment in order that
its well- preserved historic character not be com-
promised. Approaches to treatment are invariably
tied to a proposed plan for use, and so each of the
alternative uses outlined above would generate its
own set of treatment recommendations. If the
Lodge were to be used as a residence, either full- or
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part- time, rehabilitation would focus on issues of
life safety and the comfort and convenience of resi-
dents. If, on the other hand, the Lodge were to be
restored for interpretation, restrictions on alter-
ations or additions would be much greater, and
attention would be given to replicating missing fea-
tures and recreating historic painted and wallpa-
pered finishes.



Recommendations for

Treatment

Rehabilitation of the Chalmette Lodge for contin-
ued office use is the recommended treatment for the
house. This approach would repair storm damage
and would also give the park the opportunity to
remove some badly deteriorated, modern additions
to the building. In addition, the extent of required
rehabilitation will make it possible to improve
handicapped accessibility and fire protection.

Repairs

Much of the recommended treatment of the Lodge
involves repair of storm damage, and most of these
treatments are necessary if the building is to con-
tinue to be used. Certainly all of the building’s sys-
tems- - - HVAC, plumbing, and electrical- - - will
need near total replacement. Plumbing waste lines
and portions of the HVAC ductwork might be
reused but most other components of the building’s
systems will need to be replaced.

Because most of the interior walls and ceilings are
plaster and because the flooding was not of long
duration, the condition of walls and ceilings remains
relatively good. Areas of water damage are present
in the lower three or four feet of the walls on the
first floor and in isolated areas of the second floor
ceilings. These can all be easily repaired.

The chimney collapsed onto the roof during the
hurricane. Although its as- built condition was
apparently never recorded, photographs indicate
that the chimney was constructed according to the
original plans. It can be reconstructed based on
modern, pre- Katrina photographs and the original
plans, utilizing as many of the historic brick as pos-
sible.

The roof covering was also damaged during the
hurricane. Some of the roofing tiles were shattered
by the falling chimney. The ridge cap is missing from
the north hip of the roof and part of the west hip.
Replacement roofing shingles may be difficult to
locate. Although the existing roofing is not historic,
it closely resembles the historic roofing and every
effort should be made to preserve it.

Downspouts are of insufficient length to drain run-
off from the roof rapidly away from the house, and
it appears that the existing gutters, which date to
1993, are smaller than the original gutters and may
be subject to overflow during heavy rains. Although
the site may remain somewhat poorly drained,
replacement of the gutters with 6” or larger ogee
gutters and installation of a permanent drainage
system from the downspouts would help eliminate
excessive dampness under the house.

A number of doors are off their hinges, and several
sash have been replaced with ventilating louvers.
Doors and sash should be reinstalled as part of
repairs to storm damage. The swinging door
between Rooms 103 and 104 was probably removed
when the house was adapted for office use and may
have been discarded. If it can be located, it should
be reinstalled.

Modern Additions

Both of the non- historic additions on the first floor
of the back porch have been gutted and are in poor
condition. The old laundry room, which was added
in 1965, was not well- built and suffers from a variety
of damage, including rotting of virtually all of the
walls’ sole plates. With no need for a laundry room,
it should simply be removed rather than expending
resources on repair and rehabilitation.
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There is evidence of significant termite damage to
the half bath, which was added in 1952, but the exact
extent of the damage is not clear and may be limited
to the bath, since damage is not readily apparent
elsewhere. Because of its small size, which prohibits
making it handicapped accessible, the half bath
could be removed.

The sleeping porch is an historic addition to the
Lodge. Built in 1934 to War Department plans (see
Appendix A), the structure dates to a time in our
nation’s history when relatively few buildings were
being constructed. Although it underwent alter-
ations in 1965 that were not sympathetic to its his-
toric character, the structure retains most of its
historic features and materials except across the
rear elevation, where the original casement win-
dows were replaced with aluminum. According to
the National Register nomination, the Lodge and
the adjacent maintenance building “embody the
characteristics of the construction of national cem-
etery buildings of the 1920s and 1930s,’and for that
reason, the sleeping porch contributes to the histor-
ical significance of the Chalmette Lodge and should
be preserved. The clothes closets that were added to
the sleeping porch in the 1960s are missing their
doors, and unless they are deemed necessary, the
closets should be removed.

Aluminum windows were added across the rear of
the sleeping porch and in the two pair of windows
on the front of the second floor in the 1960s or
1970s. Most of these are in fair condition, although
some with dysfunctional or damaged screens.
Replacement of these aluminum windows with
wooden sash that replicate the original might be
considered, thereby reversing one of the more
unsympathetic modern alterations to the building.

Another modern alteration that might be consid-
ered for reversal is the missing wall between Rooms
1o1 and 104 and the chimney from the old steam-
heating plant. Although there are no known photo-
graphs of the original wall, physical evidence sug-
gests that it was built according to the original plans.
There would be little if any conjecture required for
its reconstruction, if that would benefit the park’s
use of the building.

There is no compelling reason to remove the chim-

ney at the back of the house that was added in 1937
to service the steam heating system. Removal of the
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chimney, which no longer rises through the roof,
would leave a hole in the concrete back porch floor
as well as in the wooden floor of the sleeping porch,
and repairs would always be visible. Although it is
not a highly significant feature, it does relate to the
period of significance and so should probably be
preserved.

Improvements for
Accessibility and
for Fire Protection

NPS policy dictates that improvements in handi-
capped accessibility and fire protection must be
made to buildings undergoing the sort of extensive
rehabilitation now necessary for the Superinten-
dent’s Lodge. Both of these sorts of improvements
will require alterations to the existing building.

Handicapped Access

After the back porch additions are removed, two
kinds of alterations will greatly improve handi-
capped access to the building, but the nature of the
building will make full accessibility difficult without
major alterations and/or additions to the house. The
first and easiest to accomplish is construction of a
ramp on the southwest side of the house leading to
the southwest end of the back porch. Accommodat-
ing the relatively high threshold from the porch
floor to inside the house would require a shallow
wooden ramp on the porch itself.

The second accessibility concern is the doors. All of
the doorways, both exterior and interior, are too
narrow (2’- 9”) to meet ADA requirements. Widen-
ing either of the front doorways is an unacceptable
alternative since that would seriously compromise
the character of the building, and while widening
the back door would require alterations to the
masonry walls which would be difficult to reverse,
that is still probably the best solution. Brick should
be carefully dismantled and stored along with the
historic door, frame, and trim. A new door should
replicate the historic design but with modern acces-
sible hardware. None of the interior doors are
accessible either, but by widening the doorway
between Rooms 103 and 104, where the door itself is
missing, most of the first floor would be made
accessible.



Full accessibility, including an accessible restroom,
does not seem feasible at this time. An elevator
could be added and the second floor bathroom
altered for accessibility, or a new restroom could be
added on the back porch or perhaps in the kitchen
(Room 103), but both of these alternatives would be
expensive and would greatly alter the historic char-
acter of the interior. The existing accessible bath-
room in the carriage house could be used; however,
employees would have to leave the building to use
the restroom and this does not seem to be a viable
long- term solution.

Fire Protection

Director’s Order 58 requires that all NPS structures
that undergo rehabilitation must have comprehen-
sive systems for fire detection and suppression.
Because of the extent of necessary repairs and the
need to replace the building’s mechanical and elec-
trical systems, simultaneously installing systems for
fire detection and suppression is recommended.

Summary of
Recommendations

See plan on following page for locations of recom-
mended alterations.

Repairs

m  Replace all HVAC, electrical, and plumbing
m  Repair plaster walls and ceilings

m  Reconstruct east chimney

m  Repair roofing

m  Replace gutters with 6 or larger gutters

Part Il: Treatment and Use
m Install permanent drainage system from
downspouts

m Reinstall original doors and windows

Additions

m Remove wood- framed additions on first floor
of back porch

m Preserve 1937 chimney

m Preserve sleeping porch, but remove added
closets

m  Replace aluminum windows with wood sash to
match original

m Reinstate wall between Rooms 101 and 104 if
that would benefit the park’s use of the building

Improvements for Accessibility and
for Fire Protection

m  Remove laundry room, half bath, and chimney
from first floor of back porch

m  Close opening for half bath door

B Widen back door and door between Rooms 103
and 104 to provide handicapped access

B Remove closets and chimney from sleeping
porch

m Install ramp to back porch along southwest side
of house

m Install fire detection and suppression systems
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Appendix A

War Department
Documents
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1928 Plans, Sheet 1

J6247-1
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1928 Plans, Sheet 2
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1928 Plans, Sheet 3
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Sleeping Porch Plans, 1934
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Original Specifications, 1928

Foa TEE
COUSTRUCTION OF

A JRICK LODGE

AL THE

HATI g Joy
ARADI, LA,
December, 1928
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GENZAAL CONDITIONS

1. Descriptiop of Jorki-~ The work shall consist of perfoming
all labor, furnishing all necessary cgquipment mnd matarial, and
constructing o Lodge for the Superintendent at the Chelmotte
Hational Cemetery, Arabi, La., all as shown by drawings J-6247-
(1, 2, 3 and 4), and as described in thess specifications,

2. Abbraviationsi- Tha following abbreviations are used in
these specificationsi- U.3. for United S¢ntes; Q.M.G. for Quarter-
waster General; U.5.A. in C., for United Statos Agent in Charge.

d. ZHond:= The parform~nce bond required in suppdrt of the
contract shall be cxecuted upon the Standard Govermment Form by tha
Contractor as principal and by a qualified Surety Company or by
two responsible persons as sureties. The amcunt of bond shall T
50% of the considaretion of the contract. Tesides being security
for the feithful performance of the contract, the bond shall alsg
secure the prempt and full payment by the Contractor to all persoms,
firme or corporations who furnished labor or materinl in the
prosecution of the work under tha contract.

4. Liguidated Demagesn:- If the contractor delays the completion
of the work vnder the contract boyond the time for completion as
stated in the contract, then the Contractor shall pay to tha U.5.
as fixed, agreed and liguidated dnmages the amcunt of Ten Dollars
{$10.00) for eech calendar day of delay until the work is completed
or accepted, subject to the provisions of Apticle 9 of the Standard
Form of Government Contract.

6. Patents:- The Contractor shall hold and save the Government,
its officers, agents, servants, and employees, harmless from
liability of any nature or kind for or on account of the use of any
patented or unpatented inventlom, article, or appliance furnished
or used in the porformance of this contract, excepting patented
articles required by the Bovernment in its epacifications, the use
of which the Contractor doee not comtrol,

6. |Wateri- Contractor mast meice his own provision for water supply
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9,

10.

11.

1a.

14.

~3-

Senitation:- Tho Contractor shall imstruct his omploycus to uso the
existin® manitary convonicnces desigmated by the U.S. Agent in Charga,
and the Contractor mast cbey and enforce all sanitary and health roguire-
mente of tha U.5. Agont in Char-e, or othar competent mathority.

Protoction of Material and Work:- Tha Cehtractor shall before leaving
off work, and at all times, carefully and properly protcct oll mater-
ials of evory description, both before and after beins usod on the job,
and all work performed by him, and provide any special protection frem
wenther deemed necessary by the U.S. Agent in Charse, without sddition-
al cost to the U.8. Partial payments under the contract will not
relisve the Contractor of responsibility.

Smokding will not be permitted in the buillding. The Contractor
shnll provide workmen in buildin: with spittocns which must be kept
filled with clean sand.

Liability for Demmmesi- The Contracter will be held respomsible for
1

all damnze to the work under censtruction, whether from firs, woter,
high winds or other causes, during performance and until finsl
coupletion and acceptance, even thoush partiol payments may have been
cade undsr the contract. Xe will be held snswerable for n»ll damaten
that may occur te personms, property, animals, or vohiclos from want
of proper shoring, Lraclng, lighting, watching, boarding or inclosing,
and for any sccident arising from defoctive scaffolding or npoaratus,
or any negligence on the part of himself or his employecs, 2

8 _and 8i~ The location of the work and grades will be indicatsd
ty the U.8. Agent in Charge, and all buillding cperstions zust e con-
fined to the limits designatod by the U.5. Agent in Charge.

Use of Rondwaye:- Contractors must use only the established roadways
and such temporary roadways as may be muthorized by the U.5. dgant ip
Charge. When it is necessary to cross eurbing or sidewnlica, ascure
bridges must be cemstructed over sams, and at complotion of all work
bridges must be removed, damaged roads, curbing and sidowalks ropaired,
and all left in perfect condition. Hauling will be by way of north
antrance unless otherwise muthorized.

ontrol [ = The work is entirely under thes control
of the U.5. Agent in Charge, and he or his authorized representatives,
shall have access to same at all times. The U.5. Agent in Charge may
require the Contractor to dismiss such workmen as he deems to be
incompatent or careless.

ter of Work Li= Tha work shall be executed in ths
beat and most workmanlike manner, in strict sccordance with the draw-
inge mnd specifications, by qualified, careful and efficient meghanicel

Superintendence by Contractori- The Contractor shall &ive his personal
superintendence to the work, or have a competent foreman or supar—
intendent, satisfactory to the U. 8. Agent in Charge, on the Job
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at all timos during the progreas of the work, with suthority to act
for him.

15, MMEEBIEELLI. Unless otherwise specifically
set forth, ths Contractor shall furnish all materials, laber, etc.,
necessary to fully cooplete tho work according to the trus intent and
moaning of tho drawings and specifications, of which intent and mean-
ing the U.8, Agent in Charge shall be the interpreter. Izcept whan
otherwise indicated, no local terms or classifications will ba com-
sidered in the interpretation of the contract or the specifications
forming a part thareof,

16. Drawings and $pecifications Cooperative:- The drawings and
spacifications shall be considered as cooperative and work and material
called for by one and not mantioned in the other shall be dons or
furnished in as faithful and thorough a manner ms though fully coversd
'hr both,

17. Complete Work Reguired:- It is intendad that the drawings and
specifications ghall include everything requisite and necessary to
preporly finish the eatire work, nctwithstanding every item necessarily
involved is not particularly mentlioned; all work when finished shall be
delivered in a complete and undamaged state.

18, Discrepancies;- TWhere no figures or memorands are gilven,
the drawings shall be accurately followed according to scale. In any
cage of discrapancy in the figuras or drawings, the matter ehall be
lcpediately submitted to the U.B. Agent in Charge, without whose = .o
decision said discrepancy shall not bs adjusted by the Contracter,dave
oaly at his own risk; and in the settlement of any complications arising
fron such adjustment the Contractor shall bear all extra expense
involved. Imn of difference totwesn drawings and specifications,
the lplciﬂutm'll govern.

19. Details:- Additional detall drawings will be furnishad, if
required, of such portions of the work ms The Q.W,G. may desire to
explain more fully. There detail drawinge are furnished, they will
govern in as far as regarde methods of construction not dsscri ar
made clear by the specification. All drawings on a scale of t%
elghts of an inch £d ome foot, or larger, will be comsidered detmil
drawings. : :

20. Qwpership of Drawinzsi- All drawings, specifications and
memorandums relating to the work are the property of the U.5., apd
are to be carefully used and returned to ths U.5, Agent in Chargp at
cozpleticn or cessation from any cause of the work.

a1, mmgg%,h Except it be otherwise specified, all
materials shall be of the Best quality of their respective kinds, Where
two or more varietiss gf materials are specified, for any purposs, it

shall be cptional wi ntractor which is used, tut in any one building
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tie same paterinl rmst be used throughout for that particular pur-
pose. In all ecases where an article is mentloned in the specifjca-
tiona in comnection with the worde "best gquality®, "ap.roved 1ity®,
or "equal to", the U.5. Agent in Charge shall decide what hﬁﬁ:t
quality and most suiteble articles to use.

23, Samples, Btei- In addition to spmples submitted as part of
bid, if any, and when required by the U.8. Agent in Charge, the Cod-
tractor shall furpish him in advance with samplea af the material
he proposes to uso on the work, end samples so furnished must, after
having been approved, be adhared to. GSamples of cemant, lime,plaster
and similar materiale will be taken froo material delivered on the
ground for use, and such material omust be delivered at loast tan
days before it is required for use. The Contractor will be held
raspenaitle for all deleye caused by rejection by the U.B. Agent in
Charge of materials of any kind which ars found unfit for use or do
not #m conform to sarples furnished. The Contractor shall furnish
the names of the mamufacturers of machanical appliances of every
description, together with rated ccpecities and other necessary infor-
zation to the U.S. Agent in Charge, for his written approval before
ordering or purchasing any of the above equipment. Where sny partic-
ular brand or panufrctured article is specified, it is to be regarded
a8 a standard. Another brand or make, equally as good in the opinion
of the U.8, Agent in Charge, will be accepted.

23, 1 i= The Oontractor must lay out his own work;
ho shall be responeible for measurements; he ust exercise propar
precaution to verify the figures bafors laying out the work and will
bte held responsible for any errors thorein that otherwise might have
been avolded. He shell promptly inform the U.5. Agent in Charge of
any errors or discrepancies he may discover in the drawings and
specifications, in order that the proper corrections may bo mads and
understood. The work must be carried on eystematically and 8o manasged
at all times as to secure repid progress and avoid annoysnce and
inconvenience.

24. Assistancoi- The Contractoer shall render assistence to other
mochanics on the work in every way in which his spoclal work cem be of
service, and such assistance mst be given promptly and thoroughly,
without additional charge. Heo and his employess must work in harmony
with other contractors on the premises and in such order and places
as may be required by the U.S5. Agent in Charge.

25. Qleaning Away Rubbishi- The Contractor is to clean away
whenever directed by the U.5. Agont in Charge, the dirt and rubbish

resulting frop his operations, and at completion shall romove all
gubbish from the building and premises, dalivering same to the 1.5,in
® ¢lean and perfect condition.
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26, Dxtrps:- He charge for any extro work or material will be
allowsd unless ths sm:ehas been ordered in writing by the U.S.
Agont in Charge, and the price stated in such order.

27. Ipspection and Acceptance - or ssjection of Worki- The
Contractor must uncorstand that the metorials delivercd and labor
furnished by him at any and =ll times during the progrees of the
work, and pricr to final mcceptance of and payment for the same,shall
be subject to the inspection of the U.8.igent in Charge, or other
muthorized agent of the U.S., with the full right to accept or
reject &ny part thorecf; and that tks he muet, at his own expense,
withirz a reasonable time, remedy any defective or unsstisfactory
materiale or work; and that -in event of his failure to do so, after
notice, the U.5. Agoent in Charge shrll have the full right to have
the samoe done, end to deduct the cost theraof from any money due
the Gontractor. 4all condemned paterisls cust be at oncé removaed
fron the reservation,

36. Scope of iwork;- The work under this haading shall consist
of nll excavating, vmciiilling, ete,,.required in connection with tles
construction of the Tullding and utilities shown on tho drawingt

29. [EDxcavating Generally:— Do all excavating of eviry descrip-
tion and of whatever substnnces encounterod, to the dioensions and
levels shown on drawings for all footings, foundations, fleoors,
trenches, etc. All excevated osterial not required for filling and
grading shnll be resoved from the premises, Dxcavatlion gencrally
shall be confined as nearly ne possible within the limits of the
structura. Surface soil shall be retained for topping as hereinafter

apacified.

30, EPxcavations for footings of all descripticns shall be carried
down to the depths and levels shown on drawings. However, should
sultable bearings not be encountered at the levels shown on drawings,
they shall be cerried to such levels as ooy be neceseary and approved
by the U.5. Agent in Chafge, Authorized increass or decrease ﬁ
amonrt of oxcavation shall be pald for by or credited to the U,5. as
per amount mentioned for excavating under init Prices® of tid,

31. Care shall be taken not to excevato beyond the dspths shown
on drewings, as no backfilling under footings will be permitted, and
any excsss bslow the lgvels shown shall be filled with concrate at
the expense of the Contractor. The excavations for footings shall be
properly laveled off and cleared of all loocse earth to the & end that
footings shall rest on compact undisturbed bottom. CIxcavations sghall
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be maintained in good order during the progress of the work, and,
if necossary, shest piling ghall bes resorted to and maintained in
pesition until their removal is authorized by the U.5. Agent in

Charge.

33. BPackfilling:- When directed by tha U.5;, Agent in Charge,
all trenches and excavated portions agoinst walle, etc., shall be
filled with earth in 1 ft. layers, thoroughly wettad and tamped.

- OF TAZDS:- All trees, the retention
of which would interfere w tuilding operaticns, shall be remoyed;
trees in the immediate vicinity which it is desirable to retainr
shall be protected from damage by boxing: troes shall be kept free of
guy ropas. The consent of the U.S. Agent in Charge shall be.obtained
prier to the removal of any trass,,

34. (Oradingi-
HOTZ:: The grading of the grounds about the building
or; bullding-site is not included in this
contract.

UASON'S MATZRIALS

36. General:- The following standard requirements for material
shall apply to all work of contract, except where distinctly otharwise
specified.

36. Zand:- 5and shall be clesn, herd, sharp, silicecus, free fram
lomn, silt, or other lmpurities end compogad of greins of varying sizes,
which will pass & 1/4" mesh screen. Sand for mortar and finished cement
floors shall be well screemed and shall ber approved of by the U.5, Agant
in Charge.

a7, el or Sfone:~ Gravel or broken stone shall be freq from
¢lay, loam, or organic matter, and shall be yun of the bank or crusher,
double screened from 1-1/2% to 1/39,

38, Cement:- Cemsnt shall be Portland cement complying with
latest specifications of the American Society for Testing Materials
and shall be delivered to the work im ths original begs or barrels
Plainly marked with nams of brand and mamufscturer end until ueed shall
be protected from rain and dampness. Defective cement, or cement shaw-
ing partial set or celding, shall not be used,,
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38. Lime:- 4ll lime shall be best quality, fat, well-burned md fresh
lump quality or mill hydrated of an approved sstablished brand., Same
conditions as to mrotection from dampness shall applr for lime as
pravicusly specified for cament.

40s wgter: All water used for masonry work of evary kind shall be clean
and fresh, and free from vegetabls, sewage or organic matter,

CONCRITS JORK

4}, Coperal:- The following standerd requiramants for concrete shall
apply to all work of contract, except as distinctly otherwise specified,

42+ Forms:- All necessary forms, centering, cores, moulds, eto., shall be
rigldly built of well-seasoned, sound, good quality lumber , and shall
conform to the shepe, lires and dimensions of the concrets a3 shown
or figured on the drawings. Lumber for fourms of exposed o ]
shell be matched and drossed to a uniform thiclmess, end shall he
free from loose knots or other material defects. Joints in f orms
sholl be horizomtal or verticel. Lumber oncae used in forms shell
have neils withdrewn and surfaces to be in contact with aonorete thor=
ocughly cleansd bafore being re-used. .

43, The use of wood forms for work called for herain is not oblig-
atary. The Contractor shall have the option of using stesl forms
subject to tha app-gval of the U.S.Agent in Chargs.

44. Degign:- Forma shall be substantial and sufficiently tight to
prevent laakage of mortdr; they shall be properly braced or tied to-
gother so as to maintain position end shapsi 3 Prich !

45, Vorkmanship:- Wire ties will be permitted only on light and mhime
portant work; they shell mot be used through swfaces vhere dif -
oration would be objectionable; Forms shall be set to lire ahd grade
and so comstructed and secured as to produce true limes, Spesial

care shall be used to prevent tulging.

46. Hemoval:- Forms shall not be disturbed unt!l ths conoreto has
adequatoly hardened,

a7, Flace in forms all wall ties, anchors, sleaves,_ inserts, ete.,
and ses that all conduits, floor drains, ete,, ere in proper position
a8 roguired or harainafter spocified.

48, i~ Tha unit of measure shzll ba tha cubic foot.

Imit of Meagure:.
Hinety four (54) pounds of Portland cememt {ome bag or 1/4 bbl.)
shall be considered as onme (1) oubic foot.
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49, Measuremort of Aggregates:- The mothod of measuremnt shell be
swch as to secure tho sppcified proportions in each batch. Tus ageregato

shall be messwed soparately by colume. Ir volume measuromant, tho
firo aggrogato and thes coarss sggrogeto shall be measured looso, as
thrown into the measuring device, and struck off. The wator ghall be
30 measured as to insure the desired quentity in suwcessive batchos,

50: Froportions: Concrote shall bo mixed in the following proportions,
cxcopt whore specifioally otherwisc celled for:

Concrote shall be composed of oma (1) part

Portland coment, two and ome-half (2%) parts

sand, and five (5) parfs of 1/2" to 13" scrooncd

graval or crushod stomo, plus 10 lba, hydrated lime

to oach bag of coment.
HOTZ: - Verlstions in the groding of the aggregates on which the pro-
portions are based may bo mada for thoe purpose of obtaining a donser
or moro workable mix vhen opproved by the U.S.Agont in Chargo, but no
claim shall be mado for oxtro compensation tharofor.

6l1. Consistonoy:- The total quantity of water used shall not exccod
8-1/4 gnllons per sack of comant., In momsuring the mater, allowanco
mist b mde for the moisturc in the sand and oggregate. Tho propor-
tions of aggrogate to coment for aonereto of tha watar-coment ratics
speoifiod sholl be such as to produce comerate that can be pudd 1od
recdlly fnto the cornors ond anglos of forms witheout oxcossive spading
aml without segregrtion or undue eccumulation of water or laltamn an

tho awrface, ' It is desireble to reduco the proportion of water spaci-
. fled to the tinimm that will give the workability dofined.

. B2, gth:- Tho mpootod minimm ultimate compressive strength
of concrote shall be 1600 pounds per square inch ofter 28 doys,

63.  Machine Mixing:- The mixing of concrete, unless othprwise
authorized, by the U.5..gent in Charge, shall bo done im a batoh mixer
of eproved type which will inswre a uniform distrimtion of the
materials throughout tho mass, 30 that the mixture i1s unifarm in anlor
ond homogenepus. Thoe entire cantonts of tho drum shall be discharged
before recharging. The mixer shall be clsaned at frequent intarvals
while in use. The volume of the mixed meterial per bateh shall not
exceed the mamfacturer's capasity of the mixer,

54, i= The mixing of each batoh shall continue not
less than 1f mimutos aftor all the magterials are in the mixer, during
which time the mixer shell rotate at & peripheral spead of about 200 ft.
per minute, ; :

55, Hapd-Mixing:- Whon hand-mixing is suthorized by the U.S.Agont

in Charge, it shall be done om o watertight platform. The pemont
fina aggregato shell first be mixod dry until the whole is of o uniform
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colorl The weter and conrso aggregate shmll then be zdded nnd tho
entiro mess turned ot lazst thras (3) times, or until o homogmoous
mixture of tho reguirad cons iatency iz obtained.

B66. Hetempering:- Tha rotompering of comorote or marter which has
besn allowed to staml longer thom thirty mimetes, that is, remixing with

or without additionzl camont, aggregate, or water, will not be pormitted,

B7. Dnmzitm = Guneral:- Befara beginning a run of sonerote,
hordoned concrets cnd forelgn materials shall be removed from tho immm
imner surfaces of the mi:zing ond convaying equipment, and, before dg-
positing concrote, dobris shell be romoved from the spadé to bo occupied
by the conecrotae.

58. ¢ = Concrete during ond immediately oftor depositing,
shall be thoroughly compactod by meons of suitoble tools. The gonereto
sholl be thoroughly worked cround emboddod fixtures, and into the cor-
nars of the forms,

B9, Homoval of Woter:- ‘Water shall be ramoved from ocxeavations
beforo comoroto is deposited. Any flow of wator imto the excevation shall
ba diverted through proper sido-drains to o sump, orf be removed by ot her
Approved methods which =ill avpid washing the freshly depositod comeroto.
Wnter wvent pipes amd drains shell ba fillod by grouting, or otharwisa,
aftor the comerete hes thoroughly hardened.

60. Protoction:- Erposzed surfacos of concrote shall be @ otected
from premature drying for o poriod of at leest seven (7] days ofter
bﬂin-g dﬂmﬂltﬂr

6l, Tamperature of Copgroteo:- Concrete vhen deposited shall heve &
bocmperntura of not less thawn 40° Fahr., nor more than 120° Fahr, In
freeging weather suitoble meoms shall be wovided for mainteining the
concrate at o temparature of at least 50° Fohr. for not less tham Ve
hours ofter pleeing, or until the concrete hos thoroughly hardonod,

Tho methods of hecting the materinls and motocting tho conerete shall
bz approved by the U.8.4gent in Charge. Salt, chemicals, or othor
foroign materinls shall not bo mixel with tho cmerato for the purposo
of proventing fressing, unloss appr oved by the U,S.Agent in Chargo.

6L, onti t= Concrete shall bo deposited contim- .
cusly’and as rapidly os mracticeble until the unit of oporation is com-
ploted, 5

63 - Beforo dopositing now comereta om or sgninat conomato
which has sot, the swfece of the sot comcrots shall be roughonod as
required by the U.S.Agent in Charge, thoroughly cleaned of foroign ;
motter and laitance, and saturated with water, The now comereta placed
in contact with hardoned or partly hardonod concrete, shell contoin an
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axcess of mortor to insure bond. To insure thiz excosas mortor ot
the junction of the hordencd and the newly depositod concrete, the
¢leaned ond scturated surfacos of the hardened concrote, including
varticol and inclinod swrfecos, shall first bo slushed with a coat-
ing of noat commnt grout ageinst which tho mow conorate shall be
placed bofare tho gront has attained its initial sot. ;

64. Comoroto Valls, otpi- Tho footings, foumdation alls amd
porch plors shall bo constructed of donmcrete; of the sizes mrkod Znd
o8 showm.

LGE._ Finigh foar Comcrata:- All exposed srfaces of concrote
walls, on cxterlor of bullding only, shell bo givem n dash finish,
Forch floors and steps shall be givon smooth finish as heroinaftop

specified,

66, Congoroto Porgh Floorg:- Construct porch floors of reinforoced
conereta, 22 shown in dotall, Conmerote to bo composod of ono part
Fortland cement, two ports s~ml, and four parts stono ar gravel of
gquality specified urder Mason's Matarials, also the cemont hardonor
as horeln specified in prrs 70. Concrete to be lzid 43" thick, and,
while green, be surfaced with n 1/2" integral finish oamposed of
ona pert Portlend coront t0 two perts well-screoned cocrse sand,
troweled to o zmooth, hord surface., If fins or YLake Shore" somd
is uged the proportion for finish sholl be 1 pert coment to 1 part
sand., (See dravings for reinforcoment of conarota).

Boild into ecch ond of porch one amall iron ventilletor.
Centoring of forms under porch floors shall not be struck untll the
conorote has beon in place at loast sevon doys, and during this time
tho conerote will bo kept covered with wet sznd or othor apmroved
covering, to protect it from sun and keoop it domp until thoroughly
sot,

HOTE: FiRAGHAPHS 67, 68 mnd €9 relate to tila floor, which is
not to bo included in this contrcot.
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T0. Cemont Hoedener:i~- Tho one part comsnt and two perts scnd findsh
for tho coment finighed floor, stolr trosds, door sills, ete., shell bo
temperad with a 3% solution of caleium chloride; this solution shall
be proportioned by weight and shall be thoroughly ogitatsd in suitable
contoinars bofors mixing with the aggregnte.

7ls Congrets Btens, oto.:- Staops shall be conatructed of gonorate
23 shovm; the trecds ~nd plotforms shall have lntegrol cemont finish
put on as hercinboforo specified for floors.

MORTAR

72. Mortar Work:i= Mortor for brick vork shnll be
composed of ono part lump lime to threo ports clean, sharp sand,
ard tompered a8 usod with omo part coment to four ports of limo mortar.
To the morter for foco brick will bo odded approved black mortar color
to the meunt of 100 1bs. per thoausand brick.

SRICKVORK

73. Chimneys:- Build chimmoys and flues oes indicated on drawings
of hard, red brick., Leove openings for stove pipe holes where roquired
or directed; all flues to be indepandent of one amother; brick pertitions,
whara shown, to ba four imches thick end to extemd to top of chimey;
all smoos around flue linings to be filled with mortar. Tho top of
chimmoys are to have 4" oost stone |concrete) cepa. Bulld into fireplace
& combinod cost ironm lintel and dampor equal and similer to tho Covart
throat dampor Mo, 548 and o onst iron esh door, as showm.

74. Fluas:- 411 fluo linings in chimneys to be of fire elay, to

stort nine-inchos below thimble or at fireplace and axtend to top of
chimnoy, the bottom of each amoke flue to be tightly closed. Cireular
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opening to be provided for smoke pipe in kitchen end in other rooms .
ag directed.

76 Fireplace:- Construst in living room brick fireplace, as showm
ip detail on sheet No. 3 of drawing, Bricks ere to be standard prossed
brick, dark red in color for hearth and tapastry for front, as shown. The
work 1s to be laid up cerefully in white cement mortar and the joints made
8¢ indicated on drawing, Umsual care must be exeroised in this work and
only experlenced labor used. Lining and back of fireplace to be of a good
guality of firs brick.

76, Plers and Columns:- Foundation plers for rear porch shall be of
concrate as spécified for foundation walls. Colwmns of porches will te
cast iron and be furnished by the Govergment, of proper length, and be’
delivered at the bullding site without sxpense to the contracter. They
shall be set by the contractor.

77. (utside Wglls - Brick:- 41l rutside walls sbove foumlation line
(or bottom of first floor jolst line) except whera otherwise noted on
drawings, will be construsted of bripk. All exposed brick shall be
first quality, hard tumed, cherry red face trick, rug textiure or verti-
cal scored on exposed edge or emd, or may be smooth textura if appr oved,
Between bricks of the same range in price, the selection of the shade
ard texture ghall be left to the Officer in Charge. Care is to be
exgrolsed that edges and comers of exposed bricks are not chipped or
broken. Eriocks for backing up shall be of good quality medium hard cormon
brick, either red = of ot her color commonly used in the vielnity.
Build into imner course 3/8" wooden lath or other sultable atrips at
proper logations for nailing the furring strips.

6. Outside Walls - Brick & Tile [ALTERNATE) - FProposals will be con-
sldered moviding for construction of cutsids walls of face brick with
backing of dense, hard 8" x 5" x 12 backup tile, imstesd of brick, laid
ln mortar as spscified for brickeork, (fer the first story, and backing
tlle 4" x 5" x 12" for secomd stary), A sufficisnt mmber of trick size
tile (or of common brick) shall be included for properly bonding the
brickwork end tile; or these shall be securely tied tagsther inm appr oved
mgnner with heavy galvanized wall ties. %han moprtar has become thoroughly
dry, cover the inside sarface of all tile walls with one coat ‘approved
waterproofing paint, mamufectured especially for this purpose. Tile must
be laid perfectly plumb and trus to 1ine on inside facs to provide even
surface to recelve plaster which will be applisd dirsotly to the tile,
without furring.

]

-
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79. ing:~ Srick work sh:ll be laid in common bond,
every sixth course being e Flemish header course. Irick to be
well watted just before leying mnd leid with flushed solid
Jjoints, leaving neo empty spaces in the walls., All exposcd Jjointse
to be conmaved and be of uniform thickness, approximately 3/8
inch. 3rick walls when completed shall be plumb, trus and
straight, rnd all angles, pilasters and ravesls of doors and
windows shall be clean-cut and true. A workmanlika Job in every
prrticular will be required. The figures ziven for dimensions
of brickwork mey be changed if nocessary to conform to the
dimensions of brick used,

80. (Cast Stono:~ All window and deoor sills shall be of best
quality standsrd design Cast Sgone (pre-cast concreta), smnd finish
and scasoned. 51ills shnll have ‘washes, sents and drips.

8l. Cleanipgi- All exposed brickwori shall be thoroughly
cleaned at completion, and mll broken or defective work nade zood,

82. Dmop Course:- Top of concrete foundation walls shall be
damp-proofed with o coat of approved waterproofing paint. Juild
inte the walls at top of foundation, or where diracted, a dmp
course formed of two courses of slate or composition shingles
bedded in mortar.

83. (Zelates to Ceiling Height - not applicablo in this
instance).

B4. General:- Jhere structural steel or irom is required
by drawings, same shall inelude all structural shapes and all othor

fittings end pleces cnlled for or reguired for the corplete and
substantial execution of this work, as shown eor reasonably implied.

85. Steel:- All material not gtherwise shown or specified,
shall be Acid or Masic Open Denrth Steal, poassessing the chenical
and physical properties of Medium Ridet Steel, 78 required by the
most recent specificatiens for Sgructural Steel for Tulldings as
adopted by the American Sccisty for Testing Materials,

B6. Iintels:~ 411 square head openings in masonry walls
shall have angle or channal iron lintels of sizes shown on drawings.

" B7. Coal Chuts:- Not included.
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88, ligsons' and Carpenters! Buildins Iron:- Purnish all anchors,
straps, hengers, plates, bolts, and all other iron or stoel wark of
thatevar desoript ion required.

FPLIMNPIN ¥
(Frotective Ooating)

89. Gopargl:- 411 structuwral md oroamental iron end steel work,
axcept a8 othervise specified, shall be ol saned and painted with a
shop coat of red laed, well brushed out over surfaces znd worked into
all orpclks and corners.

FOOFING, SHEEF METAL, ETC.

90. Gemoroli:- Foof oonstruction, or any saction tlwreof, shall be
ent iroly complated, vent lines extended tlrough ond all flashings anpd
roof drains, ate., proporly securad in position bafara roofing felt is
laid. .

91.- Foofer shall oxomine 21l parts of the roof and shall see thot
tha roof decks are smooth, flrm, dry ond free fram loosc materizl; clso thet
all fleshing is Instelled bafore proceeding with roofing.

92, BRoofing Pult:-. Unfer sshestos on roof, lay an apmroved slater's
folt, weighing not less than 30 pounds por square. Felt shall bo laid
horizontolly ond be lopped 4", and turmed over ridges with o lap of 12%
and woll scowrod with Iorge headod 7/8" copperod roof ing mails, spooed
no more than 5" apart. ZExtond felt under cll vertical flashings and up
6" rhowo roofing line.’

93. Aspostos Roof, Ete:- Tho pitched roofs as shovm shall be
coverod with #1 rigid asbostos shingles, bluo-gray, slote-colored, or
amarald groan. Light gray will not bo accopteble. The shade, for
shinglos in the same range of price, will be left to tho selection of
tho Offiger in Chargo, Bidders shall state in their proposals the
mamfecturer, brend, and size of tho osbostos shingles which thoy pro-
poso to furnish and sholl submit somple thereof upon requast. The
shinglega will be roctongulsr, eithor 8" x 16" or 9" x 18" (apmroximte
dimonsions). Thay shall be machine punched, lald in the bost mamnor,
amerigen mothod, Witk 1™ minimum hoad 1 end vech shinglo noiled with
at laast two large-hsadod #11 gunge, 1—3:" coppar slating nails. 4ll
courses shell bo straight and ovon, the ridgos modo tight. Shinglos
shall project 1" ovor cornicos. Ridges shdll be of asbestos put on
with ridge roll clips and coppered neils in an spprovod memnmor in
agcordarce with the speoifications of the mamfasturor.

94. ([DOES NOT ~PFLY)
95. Tin Aoof: [DOES KOT AFPLY)
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96. Yentilators:- Install, where shown, one ventilater, 15V,
Globe pattern, made of l6-oz. Copper, =1l work properly flashed.

97. HKitchen fanget- The rings snd necessary stovepipe in
kitchen to be furnishad by the Government,but will be properly sat
on a sheet of #26 galv. iron, extend 2" at sides of stove and 12V
in front, and connected to smoke flue by the comtractor.

98. Metal Flashings, Dtc. All flashings end counterflashings

shall be of 16 oz. soft copper, and shall be of arple extent for
the purpose intended. Flashings shall be furnished wheraver ghown
on the drawings, menticned in the epecifications =nd to the extent
required for first-class work and to insure watertight construction
throughout,

99. Qutters:- Gutters as shown to be copped as specified for
flashlng, Throat between gutter and domnepouts to be of copper,
Copper to be securely fastened in plece by heavy, copper nails
ond engle clips formed of 16 oz. hard copper as shown by datail,

100. OQutsids Conductors or Downspouts:- Unless otherwise notad,
outside conductors sh~ll e rectangular, of sizes shown, of 16 oz,
hard copper. ALl ehall be properly connected to gutters using goose
noclk connoctions where offsets occur. Conductors shall stand froe
from walle, erected straight and plumb and secursd with approved
adjustable brass conductor fasteninss, conductors to have heads ms
shown of 16 oz. copper, discharge end of downspoute to have elbows
to turn water amay from walle, connections to gutters shell barpdas

with long sweeps, =s shown on details,

101. Strainersi- Furnish and set approved deme-shaped #14 Euppnr
wire baslket strainers, 1-1/4" mesh, at all conductor openings.

IRAIN 2
102. Area Draint- Hot included in this contract.
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103. @enernl:- Go ever the interior work with the officer in
charge to see thet a2ll pipes, studding, grounds, etc. are right before
comrencing work.

104. Plagsteringi~ AJl walls nnd cellinge in first and sccond
story to be plastered with an approved brand of gquick setting wall
Plastor, threc coat work be finished with approved sanded wall
Plaster to which nothing 1 be added but water and must bo applied
in accordance with manufacturer's directions, This plaster will be
epplisd aver tile walle without furring and oo all partitions mnd
ceilings over epproved plaster board or metal lath where seco is
opecified. Brigk walls $o be furred and covered with plasterboard
before plastering, s _ :

105. Plaster Boardi- Cover all partitioms, cellings, and
interior brick walls except basement, with approved 1/3" or I/aY
Plaster board in sheets epproximately 32 x 36* or other standard
dimensions, spylied as specified below. Sce that the furring strips
on ceilings are properly loveled before plaster board is put m.
Flaster board will be socursly nailed on all bearings with 34
cormon nails (44 nails if board 3/6" thick) speced not over 6-inches
apart, L=y all sheets in parallel courses following the direction
of studding, furring or jolsts., Start each alternate coursé with
half sheet (32 x 16" if 32 x 36" sheats are usod) so as to braek
Joints at right angles to otudding on walls (horizontally) and st
right angles to joists or furring on ceilings. The lmst shest in
each course shall be cut to ex=ctly fit spmce. Jreak Jointe betwesn
walls end ceilings so that a vertical joint on the wall will not
meet a ceiling joint., Perpendicular joints on opposite sides of
partitions rust not be on same stud. Space sheots 1/4" apart at ell
horizontal or othef joints which do not come om studs. Joints coming
on studs or jolsts may be butted tight or come as will, but joints
migt not exceed 1/4". Do not wet boards before plostering.

NOT2: Plaster board cey be of other standard size shaets
placed to broak jolnts as indicated.

106. Motal Tathingj- Chloney breasts to be covered with spproved
porforated steel lathing bent at right angles to fit corners and
fecuroly fastonSd on.

107. Corper Beads:-. A1l projecting plaster corners, full height
of story, to be protacted with approved hesvy stesl corner boads put
on gt plumbd, true snd stralght, and securely fastensd in place with
iron nails or iron straps and nails, or other spproved fastenings;
all corners and fastenings for same to be heavily galvanized.

108, All walls must be trus, plumb and cut of wind., The finish
coat will be flush with the grounds set by the carpenter. Nome
tut ekilled mechanics will te employed on this work who heve had
previcus experience with the class and kind of material selectad.
Finiahed Jwalls must show a contimuous unbroken surface of even
color shade. Fill in between all studs in each story at bottom
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of same with two inchos of mortar before putting up wall board
to form fire stop. 4ll openings in tulldings to be closod during
the progress of plastering, and until it is dry.

108. PFlastering to oxtend down to the under floor and comg
out even with faco of grounds. Patch up whero necess~ry whon wood
trim is in pleca, alec around plpae and other places whore required
to make the work completo. Walls in bathroom, to four foet abovwe
floor, to be finishad with Keen coment, white, marked off in 3V
x 6" blocks. Ihn molding at top of cemant findsh. Kitchen to be
similarly finishod to 3 ft. 6 inches above floor.

110. Outside Plaster;~ (Tnis item does not apply).

CAZPRENTRY JORE

111, General:- Do all nscossnry woodwork and cutting for
plpes of ell kinds, leaving pockots properly socured with screws in
all floors over pipas, whore necessary. OCare must be taken not to
cut off or wonken supporting timbers, proporly protoct zll openings
from tho weather, when dirccted. All mouldings, srchitraves and
othor work of liks nature, will conform to draminge, or as directed.
All plastoring to be finishod, and the building thoroughly dried
bafore any of the intorlor finlsh or flttings are broucht into
tho building, '

112, i= All dimoneion or other lumbor (oxcept whers
otherwiso epeclified) shall bo best quality short leaf pina,scund,
brisht ond well scasoned, stralzht gralned, squars odgod andwithout
wano, and shall be froe from throw¢h or round shakes which show ¢n
tha surface; lar7e,unscund, looss or hollow kmots,wors and kmot hole®.

113. 4ll must bo properly framed, sccerding to jland and
datnil drawings,
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No portion of framing to be pleced within two inches of brick

work of chirmeys. All framing rmst be done with a view to prevent
any greoet shrinkege or unusual settlement from affecting tho
plastering or finished work. BEafters to be thercughly spiked to
boarings and the wholo work done in a first class mammer. Wherever
necessary to prevent uncqual sottling, stud partitions will be
trussad.

114. All fracing timbers to be of sigos and placed as shown in
dotnils or as hereinaftar specified. Joists to be sized to width
and bridged cvory eight feot with 1 x 3-inch cross bridging, neiled
with 10-penny nails, two at each end; joists of second floor to be
fire cut, supported im brick wall as shown; every sixth joist to be
enchored with.-strong wrought iron anchors securaly bullt iato
brickwork; W.I. Hangers to be used if walls are tile; all joists
to be placed with crowning edge up. 4ll headers and toil joists to
be hung in steel hangers. (See Iron Jork). Joists to be doubls undsr
all partitiona running payallel with thsm, and not supported below,
and tricmers and heoders to be double around all epenings and spiled
together. 41l studs axcept where 2 x 6" or 2" x 3" are indicated
will be 3" x 47, All studs will be spaced lé-inches on centers -
carafully stralzhtoned, double at and trussed over all opemings; all
door openings to have double studding to the full heaijht of the
story, and securely splked together without splicing; Lridge studs
ence in helght in each story with 2 x 4-inch pleces cut in. All
partitions not parallel with joists to have two-inch cops =nd silla
for full width of studs. Partitions in second story coming ovar
those below will rest directly on the caps of same and will not
have sills, :

115, Pach pair of roof rafters to be tied togethar, as shown,
by a l-inch by B-inch coller beem. Hidge 1 x 10 inches.

118. Grounds:i- Put suitable grounds arcund all openings, base-
toards, atec., and wharever required; spike suitable blocks in all
corners whero neceseary to secure good nalling for baseboards and
other finish. Plastering grounde to be full thickmess of plaster-
board and plaster. (Do pot place grounds or nailing strips over
plasterbosrd,

117, Jurringi- Jurr all brick walls with 7/8 x 2% strips,
16-inches on centers; whare necessary for door and window finish and
projections; fer plumbing, plastering, and for everything necessary
to carry dut the design.

118, r Floorsi~ Under floors for first and sescond stories
‘to be of good quality 7/B" bomards not over elght-inches wide, dressed
one s8ide and on edges, laid diagonallyiclose together,dressed side up,

securely nailed at each bearing, end not to come within 1/3% of any
masonry work; tutt jolnts to be cut diagonally and over Jolsts only.
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Becond floor to sxtend batween studs to back of roof sheathing.

118, Roof = Cover all roofe and outside of 'studding
where Walle are of frame cohstruction with 7/B" T. & G. boards not more
that slght inches wide, dPedsed on one side, laid dlagonally, dressed
side outy tightly strained and securely nailed to each bearing.

1 Fum}_tg@ A1l exterior finish, except where other-—
wise sgeclifisd) for w 8, doors, jambs, cornices, porches, ete.,
to be of best quallty thoroughly seasomed and thorcughly dried long
lehf Oecrgih plhéy &ypress, or white pine extisfactory to the afficer
in chargze hand finished and primed as scon as put up. The finish
#ill bo of & grede equal to the following: A board elight inches in
width and twelve fest in langth, to be free from saskes, to have no
locee kmots, and not more than three sound ones, none over 1/2M
diameter; othar dl.p'ln-innl to have no greater proportion of dafacta.

121. Door and Findow Frames:;- Frames for outside doors to be of
clear, long leaf Osorgla plme, cypress or white pilna, 1-3/4" thick,
double .rabbeted. 411 window frames in first and second stery to
be of wood used in exterior finish. Cut pocksts in pulley stiles,
secured with screws. Frames for sll inside doors to be 1-3/B" white
pinas.

122, Outside Blinds:- Blinds not raquired.

123. Sashi- Sash to be made in first class oanner of bast
quality kiln dried western white pine or of cypress, and to be 1-3[4"
thiclk.

124. Upoer Fleorsi- Upper floors of firet story to be laid at
complation of othar insids work and to be ‘?I,P'Bl T. & G. Eiln dii*d.,
edge grain, long leaf, yellow pine or plain white oak, showing mot
over 5—1{4"' face, free from blued sap stalns, pltch pockets, kmgts
oer other imperfectlons; upper floors for second story o be standard
Ho. 1 quality short leaf pinme, tightly driven up and blind nailed
at bearings; all flocrs plansd and scraped smDbth at fipnish. Butt
Jointe of floor, where necessary, to be cut over jolsts only, care
belng taken to have even celer in jolning. A baveled, mitarsd |
bordar to be placed around hearth projecting Ej’l&ﬂ abova flaor,

125, Ipside Finishi- All the inside finish to be for painting,
ahd will ba of bast quality local pine lumber, free from all blued
sap staine, pitch pockets, mots or othar impsrfections, as
dodcrited for exterlor finish. A4ll lumber used for inside finish
will be thoroughly kdln dried, hand smoothsd and sand~papered and
worked as per detmil drawlngs: put on in a thorough and workmanlike
mannér on ons langth whers possible. All nails will be et and
loft smooth for paluntar.
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126. Sholving, otci- Zach closat, oxcept linen closet, to hava
a sholf sujported om 2-1]2 inch cleats. Linen closet to have 6
sholves, Iut in oach closet, linen closat excepted, olght hooks
screwod to three inch stripe before being put up mnnd the strips
scrowod firmly to wall, Securely screw to woll in tathroom, whame
directed, 7/0 x 3" hook strip with two hooks; hooks to be got ten
inches on centers. Fit up kitchen dresser,as shem, with lowor mad
upper psneled doors, upper doors to have glazed panels, proporly
moulded in, bolow to have raised wood panals. ; ;

126-A. Madici b iz Duild into partition wall of bath-
roon whore directod; a medicine cabiret approxioately 2 ft. high,
10 inches wido, of wood used in insids finish. Door to be fillad
with mercury backed plate glase mirror. Cabinat to have two wood
sholvas 1/3% thick. Deor hung on 2-1/2 x 2% loose pin butte and
fitted with cupboard turn.

127, Doors:- All doors to be of size and thickness shown
by drawings, and of similar designe., The dosigne need not ba -
identical, tut stock designs similar to those shomn will be
allowed. All ineide doors to be blind tenoned, wedged and glusd
miyk with five raised cross panols; to be of white pine with eglid
stiles mnd rails., Doors freo living room and office on-to froot
porch will bo of design shown, or similar approved design, glazed
with selected clear, double strength glass, badded om putty and
held in .lace by wood molding, Sxterior Tear door ns shown,
Transoms where indicated on plans.

Thresholds, d.uuﬂn bovelod, wudﬂan. for all outsido
doors dircctod.

HOTE: 5light varintions in the length or width of
doors, windows and fromes will be allowed if noceseary, to briog
theo to the nearest rogular stock sizes, the variations not to
exceed 4 per cent unless aporoved by the Officer in Charge,

128, Stairs:- Build in the Dost pubstantial and workmanlike
mannor, as shown on drawings, tho stairs from first to second
flgor., Steirs to be framed on 2 x 12-imeh carriagee not more than
eighteen inchos mpart, with 1-1/6" trcads and 7/i¥ risors. Treads
and risers to ba tongued and grooved together, pmch risar into
tread above and trosd into riser back of it, and both housad into
waﬁ.atrinc aad securely wedged. ~ ' Dalusters to be dove-tailed
into ands of treods and floor of landing, and the noeing on end to
be malled on. iHand rell of approved kariwers hardwood to be |
secured to’ newols and together at Jointe by wrought iron hend rail
scrawe and bolts. Nowels to be builg up as shown, Treads to be
of clear, white oak, Risers and base to be of wood specified for
_iniiﬂn finish. ; e

e —— .
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12Ca. Stock Desizmsi- The woodwork dosigme shown om l-ns o
referrcd to in these sjecifications aro -dntended to indicate tho geneml
design ond quality but not to require that woodwork of idontical
desizns ba furnishad. Any similar stock designs of equal quality
and with slight variation in dimensions to bring them to the nearest
atock sizes, will be sccepted in lisu of the dasigns shown or referrod
to for doors, windows, architraves, bolusters znd other woodwork trim.

WSDASE

129. Ganerpl:- Iardwara required under this specification shall
conform to U.S.Army <.M.C. Standard Specification Ne. B1-33, A copy of
these specifications may be seen at ths office of the U.8.A. in C.,
and the Contractor may obtein a copy by applying to the Q.M.G., \inshingtom,
D.C. The Contractor shall furnish all finishing hardwnro, os chomn,
as specified, and as obviously necessary to complate the building. Each
item of hardware shall be packed separately, complete with ~11 trim inge,
scrows, etc., end shall be clearly labelad and mumbered.

130, dardware Sarples:- Samples of all the differcnt items of
"Pinishing" hardware required for proposed work shall be subnitted fo
the U.5.A. in €., for his approvel before any hardware i delivered hnd
apylied. After samples are approvad, thay shall be installed on the
work and a record kept of their location. C‘hensver tha waight of any
article is specified, it shell mean weight exclusive of screws, . *
washere, etc. -
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131. Material and Finlshi- All hardware, except where otherwise
specifisd, shall be of wrought bronze with dull brass finish No. U.5.
4; and lagguered: All hardware in bathroom to be nickel plated finish
No: UiSi14. Eprings for bolts "'# mﬂia of extperior doors shall b
of propatly tempdrad Hronze add & la eiza. Screws of samo
materlal and flaled, dnd of suitable size shall be furnished for all
hardware. BScrews for strike plates, tutts, etc., shall be countor-
surnk flathead, and for all other hardware shall be oval headed.

133. Doorsj= Provide the followlng hardware: All inside doors,
except bathroom and swinging door, to have locks, Type 4A; and to
have two butts 3-1/3ix 3-1/2%, type 2005. Dathroom lock, 174,
turn knob for insids, nickel plated. Two butts 3-1/2" x 3-1/2%,
Iypa 2005, nickal-plated. Swing door hinge, Type 2334, with push
plates, Type EBkkx 461A. All other inside doors to have kmobs, Type
211B; Hoses, Typs 330; Kay Flatas, Typa 350.

Exterior two front doors have locks Type 80; butts threa,
4-1/2% x 4-1/2", Type 2001. Knobs, type 2100; Aoses Type 3304;
Turn knobe on inside and escutcheons,Type 300, on cutsids; outsida
rear door to have lock, Type 22A; T = Knob, Type 2100; Rose, Type
3304; Key Flata, Type 350.

Secure in proper position on floor, at exterior doors, door
;;:gl, Type 1341; and back of oll inside doors, door stops of Type

133. Findows:- GSamsh in box frames to be hung with best breided
cotton sash cord, equal 0 A quality Silver Lake Ko.l, with proper
cast iron woights to balance seme.

Frames to have pulleys, Types 1248. Sash to be provided

with fastenars, Type 1139A. Lifts, two for each lower sash, Type
1201, weights 1701,
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134. Dressari- Each pair of doors to be hung on 2-1/2 by
2-1/2 inch loose pin, ball tip butts, Type 2017A, and secured
by one syring elbow catch, Type 1080 and cupboard turne, Type

10820 and drawer pulls, Typo 1297.
Metal shelf supporte.

135, Hooksi- Hooks in kitchan and closets, Type 11623, those
in bathroom to be nickel plated, Trpe 1162 A,

136. Glazing:- (General) Tne Contractor shall furnish and set
all glass for all windows and doors, regquired to completely finish
tha work shown on drowings or specified.

137, Settingzi- All glass shall be bedded in putty, oxcept
where bead stops are specifisd. Glass shill be secured with
glazier's points =and puttied.

138, Glass:- All glass shell be Test quoality Acerican, double
thick glass.

139. Protectien and Cleaning:- Protect all glass from injury
during building work and replace broken lights without charge.
Leave all glass wihole and washed perfectly clean at completion of
bullding.

PAINTING, ETC.

140. Painting:- A1l materials and labor to be furnished by
the contractor, and to be of the best of thelr respective kinds.
All paterials to be brought to the bullding in original packages.
kll putty stopping to ba neatly dona, and kmote and discolorations
to be killed with shellac, All colore bto be selected by the
officer in charge. bz

A1l ,cutelds wood ond metal work, execept
sghingles, to be painted three coats of paint made of jure, white
lead of agproved gquallty, mixed with pure, raw linseed oll, last
coat to be one-third zinc white. Door asnd window fremes to be
primed before setting in walls. Putty of sash to be neatly
puinted. All sash to have the rabbet primed before being glazed.

All woodwork on inside, second story (except-
ing floorse), to have two Zood coate inside whité paint of spproved
mamufreture snd one coat ppyroved white enamel.

All inside woodwork, first story, except
floore, offica, kitchean and etair treads, to be filled with an
approved peste filler ond given one coat of varnish squesl teo
"Elastica® Ne. 2 or Pratt & Lachert's No.38 Freservative rubbed
down with sand psper, then apply a final coat of flattening vamish
equal to "Flattinah,

Office and Btchen woodword te be given the
sams treatment except that am oil filling stain (light oak) shall
be used for the filler.

All floors and stalr treeds, to be thoroughly
cleaned and glven two comts floor varnleh aqual to Pratt & Lambert's
Ho. 61.
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1414 Genarali- Under thid heading the Contrackor will be quuim
to fubnieh all fizturas, and bther material requifed, and to insthll
in the tuilding the fixtures as listed below: All water pipes| toth
hot and cold, vant and seil pipes. ne shown.or regquired: The wator
servico line -nd sbil pipe to be extended 6 feet cutside w-lls of
tuilding, beyond this point water and sawsr connbtticns will be
provided by others. p

Reference in this section of thia lp;ﬁiii:utiuﬂl to pages,
figures, etc., meand poges, figures, otcy, in the U.S. Army Bpeci-
fiantions for Flumbing Flxtures (for land dde), ¥o. 63-6, Jnuuary
5, 1927, {except where special.fixtured Bnd flttings are called for),
and which include U.S. army Quartermdster Specifications, los. 01-
2k, ©1-12, 61-39, 03—+ and G2-5d, &ll of which are & part of this
specification) ¢oples of Which may be sean at the office of the
th5. Agent in Charge.

142. Kind and Juality of Materiml:- All material, appliances and
fixtures furnished mast be in strict accordance with the specifi-
cmticn requirements in each case and of the best quality and grade.

Especial attention is called to the fact that within 15 days
efter the date of mcceptance of bid, the Contractor mist submit
to the Officer in Charge, a complete list of the following material
(no consideration will be given to partial lists submitted from
time to time), giving the names and address of mumuf-cturer and slso,
when g0 roquired for proper identification, the catalog oumber and
trade nana:

MATERTAL HAME AND ADDRZSS CATATOG HO.
Or =

Plumbing fixtares . - - - - - = . =i s ows e e e m wa m
Water Clomet Seates «» -~ . o ¢ = = = s = = o o 2 4 4 4k a e s a oasw

In the event the Contractor falle to comply with any of thas
requirements of the greceding paragraphs relative to material, eppli-
ancas And fixtures, i.a:z

{1) Fails to submit within 15 days after the date of acceptance
of bid the list of matsrial, etc., in accordanco with the
above aschedule.-

(2) Names agpliance not strictly in secordance with specifications
requiremants, or not of the best quality and gradas,

(2) Fuils to nzme a mmnufacturer satisfactory to the U.5.4. in
0., who makes a complete line of plumbing fixtures in
accordance with the specifications —

n the officer in charge reserves the right to select & full

line of materinl and appliances, which selection shall ba final and
binding upon the Contractor and the work must be installed on that

basis without change in the contract price.
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Tho plumbing fixtures must, in. genaral, be the product of one
manufacturer and miet ba in strict nccordance with thie specifica-
tion. The term "manufacturer? as usad in this paragraph is to be
understood as applying to the company of cstablished reputation in
that line that mssembles the plumbing cutfits from products of their
own oamifncture and assumes the responsibility of certaln fixtures
or minor products in sald cutfits which are not manufactured by them.

Tha plumbing work shall be perfommed in harmony with the othar
work on the building and at such times me may be directed by the
officor in charge.

The General Contrrctor shall ds 1ll nscossary cutting or alter-
dtions of structural work required for the plumbing, subject to the
approval of the offlcér in charge.

The plans show location of all fixtures. All branches to fix-
tures shall be of sizes as hareinafter specified. The Contracteor,
bafore proceeding with the work shall prepare and submit drawings
of the proposed arrangement of water, 8oil and vent pipes to the
officer in charge for approwval, .

143. Excavoting:- Tha Sontractor shall furnish all labor for
the purpose of oxcavating for all pipes, Tronchee chall be dug to
uniform width, necessary to accoomodnte the various pipes; the botipm
of tranchee shall be. tamped hard where necesssry, and graded so s to
sscure all available fall to the lowest point required. Where trenches
are to receive sewer, soll and drmin pipes, they shall be dug out
under each hub to give solid bearing for pipe, =nd so that tha propar
Jolnts can bo mnade.

After the pipes have been placed in a uniform position inm
the various trenches, tested, inspected and approved by the officer in
charge, the trenches shall be filled, flooded where possihle and
thereoghly tamped so as to prevert nottling.

WOTE: (Excavating for pipes not required sxcept for a distance of
5 feat from foundation wall

144. Cast Iron Pipe:- (See U.5. Ammy Spec. Wo.83-4). All soil
lines, vents mnd stmcks shall be extra heavy cast irom pipe and
fittings.

All :l'itt.ingu for cast iron pipe (see U.S,Aimy Spec. Wo.
B3-4)to be cask iron of corresponding quality and weight,
All changes in pipe size on scil, waste and drain lines

mast be mads with reducing fitti or rm:e sed reduce Cast 1
plpe” simll not be nnﬁiﬂnﬁ'l ﬁgi litiﬂa ’LIB or lﬁq:"-n

bends to be used where possible.

- All joints between cast ircn pips to be made with a picked
pakum gasket and pig lead; joint to be run at one pouring and calked
golid, flush with thes hub.

145, Soil, Waste, Vant Drain 2 i= Horizontal soil and
waste pipes in the building shall be given a grads of 1/4-inch per foot
where possible, but in no case less than 1/8-inch per foot. All
vertical soil and waste stacks ghall be sxtendsd full size to and
above the roof ling s bents. Vertical vent plpes may be connected
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into one main vent riser above the fixtures vented, Hoerizontal
Waste lines recciving the discharge from two or more fixtures
shell be provided with end vents.

146, o logsi- Openings in roof for vent pipes
thall be provided with roof flanges. (Seec Detail No.5, Figure 13,

147, Connec Bi- Slze of extra heavy C.I, soll pipe
branches from the verious fixtures shall ba as followag
Water Closets LR P
Lavotories .............. an
Blhhl'uh.-”'.......,.1,.......... o
S T e el Y i W e 20

148, Cleanoutss~ Rodding X2 holos or clean-outs with cast brags
Pluga shall te installed on ends of spil Pipe where required, A
heavy cast iron fitting with heavy cast irsx brass screw rlug agd
brass ferrule, same 5ize, os pips, shall be Placed at bottom of
vertical soll gnd want pipe, (See Fig. 1 - Detail No.4),

l49. @ Plpei- (Sge U.5.Amy Spec. Heo.01~12), All water
®upply shall be galvanized mild stesl, standard wolght and thicimess,
Fittinge on all woter pipe (except the bortions specified
to be H;F. brass) shall be galvanized cast irop pr galvanized
nalleable iron, standard besdsd pettern.

150, i~ The water serviece pi
will extend five feet cutside building, at location indicated by
efficor in charge, and be Plugged. Provide and install all hot and
cold water connections to boller and fixtures. On main water i
Inside of building wall, provide gate valve. A drain connacted with
Elove valve with 3/4" hosa nipple, shell be installed gn supply on
Puilding side of sate valve, ‘

The water supply to RhfFoon shall be f1tted witn gate
valves, placed in accessible positions. Such valves must contral

all the fixtures in Ithrooo. Stop cocks wil not be permitted. A11
G.I. water pipe used insida buildlng to be 3/d4-ineh except branches

to fiztures and boiler which will be 1/2-inch,
Lot water supply to bathroom to have xtr circulating pipe
Tun beck to hot water tank in kitchan,

151. rs rts Cir Vertical pipes shall have
heavy wrought iron clamps or collars for Supports; all hangars shall
be of a siza Proportignate to the weight of Pipe supperted,

Fipe sleeves or metml thimbles shall be furnished and
located for all Pipes passing through concrete OF masonry,

152, oor, ¥ aili tes:~ All exposed Pipe which
poss through floors, walls or ceilings shall be fitted with Plates.
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{see Section 17, Par. (a) and (b). Flates on N.P. pipe to be
H.F. brass.

153. Type of Fixtures:- The follewing scheduls indicates the
typa of fixtures roquired:
Attention is directcd to tha reforence in the first
paragraph of description of fixtureo, as shown in figures in the
plukbing fixtures specifications.

WATER CLOSETS: No. 48 VL, Figure 5.

LAVATORIES: He. 21 RC I B - Flg. 13,wasta to wall.

DATH TUD: Ho. 80 F, Fig. 14.

KITCHEN SINK: No. B2 CIX, Fig. 13.

d0T WATER TANE: Standard G.I. 30 genl. Tested to 100 lbs,
Tank to be furnished with G.I. stand.

ACCESSORIZS: Furnish end install, near water closet, a
poper holder, Pig. 25 - Ho.9. Towal &Enck,
Fig. 24, Detall 6. Tumbler Jold.r, Fig.
24, Dotail Z.

154. Tasts for Flumb Systemi- The antire system
of soll, wnste and vent piping in tullding muat ba tested with water
or alr, as directed, and proved tight to the satlisfaction of tha U.5.A.
in C., before connection ie mnde to sewer, trenches backfilled, piping
covered, or fixtures connected.

166, Water Testsj— If tests are made with water, the connsctlons
from tuilding to sawer and the draioage system below floors or ground
level shall be filled with water to top of a vertical section of pipe
10! high (excapt foér terra cotta pips), mnd the water allowad to gtand
for at least 30 mifutes for inspection, after which, if the limes prove
tight, the water is to be drawn off, imsodiate connection made to sawer
and tranchas backfilled. The soll, waste ond drain and vent piping
atovo the fleor to ground level muet have tho cpeningd plugged whre
necessary and the piping system above filled with water to the leyol
of the top of vent pipas and allowed to stnand for at lamst 30 oimtes
for inspection, after which, if the linee prove tight, the water is to
be dramn off and the fixztures connected. Each vertical stack abova
the first floor or ground leval with ite branch waste and vent pipes

oay be tested separately.

"'156." Ar Testsi- If in freezing weather tests are made with air,
a presgure of not less thon 10 pounds per square lnch, equal to 200
of mercury must be applied with a force jump and said pressure malntained
at lsaat 15 minutes without leakaje. A mercury columm gmuge must be ussd
in malking the pir tests. Testing instruments must be furnished ty the
Contractor.

157, Tests on Woter Supply System in Julldinsi- At completion of thia
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work the domestic water supply system mmst be tested to a
hydrostatic pressure of 100 pounds to the square inch and
proved tight at this pressure.

Water olping, in any way concealed by structural work,
must be tested to above pressure and proved tight before
pipes are concealed. Tha test pump nnd gZauge mast be provided
by the Contractor.

Contractor must clean sweoy all surplus earth and other
rubtbieh resulting from the work and leave the site clepn and
in as good condition as existed before the work was begun. -

- HOTE: This proposal covers water and sewer system insidas
the bullding and to a point five feet ocuteide of building.

Extankion or connection beyond that point will be provided for
by others.

IZATING

HEATING SYSTZM not included, ~nd poragr-phs 166 to 1B6
(peyes 28-32) covering Heating are cmitted.
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HEZATING SYSTEM not included, and paragrapis 158 xx# to 185
(pages 28-32) covering Heating, are omitted,

167. Zulas: The labest regulntions of the National Flactric
Code shall be considered as included in these specifications and
all requirements shall be fully met. All materials used in
carrying out these spscifications shall be fully approved by the
Nationsl Doard of Fire Underwriters and by the contracting
officer, Coples of Naticnal Electric Code may be ocbteined on
application to Underwriter Laborstories, 25 City Hall FPlacs,

Hew York, N.Y.

18B. Scope of Work:- The contractor shall furnish nll

labor and material necessary for n complete electric system in
the tuilding, including entrance wiring, main switches, tranch
cut-outs, cabinets, circuit wiring, ocutlets, laip drops, ote.
with exception of furnishing the lamps and fixtures, The lampe

lighting fixtures will be furnished by the Government, and
ta installed by the Contractor.
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189. Cutting and Bgoeiringi~ The contractor shall do =21l cutting

necessary for the proper installation of his work and shall repair
any damage done by himeelf or his workmen, employing the services

of the contractor whose work has been damaged when so directed by

the officer in charge.

180, Guarantee nnd Test:~ The contractor shsll guarantee to
make good any defects which nay davelop within one year from date
of final acceptance, which may be due to dafactive materiecls or
worimansghip., The installaticn shall be free from grounds, short
cireuits and other defects. 411 wirlng ust be connected thra
switches to furnish energy to ekt outlets =8 shown on plans. Final
tests will be made in the presence of the contracting officer, or
his suthorized representativa.

191. 32X Cable:- All wiring inside the building shall be
installed in best gquality stondard 3X cabls, fimly secured in place
and securely fastened to nll cutlet boxes in best aparoved menner.
Cable deformed or crushed in any way shall not be instnlled and must
be removed from the building without delay. Cambles shall ba
installed in 5 neat and worlmenlike manner whethar they will ba
concenled or exposed. No wires shall te installed until all worlk
which might cause daznge to tha wires, cables or conduits has been
completed. Cobles or confuits rust be kopt at least six inchas
from hot watar pipes, stesm Pipes and flues, All cables on this
instnllation shall be concealed within the walls and ceilings
of the buildings, except where wells or cailings are unfinished,

It shall be incumbent upon the contractor to exsrvies tae NEcessary
precaution to provent the accumlation of water, dirt or concrete
in the conduits éuring the execution of the work., (Cables in

which water or other foreign material has been permitiad to
sccurmlate, shall be thercughly cleaned or the able run replacad

if such accurmlation cannot be removed by methods approved Ly the
officer in charge. The wiring shall be brought into the building
by stendard rigild iron condult installed in approved method,
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152, ding:~ The conduit installation in the tuilding shall
bte effactively grounded by firmly sattaching an approved clamp tofhe
noarest comduit and commecting it by a rubboer covered wire to the i
water service near the point of antry.

183, Main Switches:- Contractor shall furnish and install
standard slate beso, front connected, fusible, 30 ampera, knifo ewitch
in building. Switch shall ba mounted in steel cablnet located in an
sccegelble loeation with reference to service entrance, appearance
and moter reading. Uain ewitch will be su:plied with two fuses
having the same rating as the cepacity of the swltchos.

194, Service Connectionsi- Contractor will provide overhead
gervice from FPower Compapy line, to be brought in from the roar of
the lodge. This wors may be done by contractor or by Fower Company
ot the expense of thoy controctor. All wire, cable, doct, oanholaes,
transformer and other material rust conform to tho standards: of the

Fowar Corpany.

195, datt Zour Meters:- All necossary provisions for installe-
tion of meter %o conform to requirement of the local electric company
mast be mado by the contractor,

196. Cabinets:- Cabinets shall be furnished and installed of
sufficlent size to accomrwdate main switchee, pencl cut-outs and
. wiring perteining thersto. Cabinets shell be of the surface type.
They shall be steoel, at least #13, U,5.8tandard Gauge, fitted with
plain stasl door having hinges of a neat and substantial design,

. snap latch, .

187, FPanel Cut-Cutsi- Protection for brench circuits shall be
affarier affordsd by installation of doublo branch, porcolain bess,
panal cut-outs. Thoy shall be of the approved type, wecurely
fastened to back of cabinet in such a manner that removal or
raplacoaont can readily be made from the front: ten amperc fuses
shall be furnished and installed in all branch panals.

198, Qutletsi— DJoxes to match the conduit, of a type to suit
the conditions for sach cutlet, shall bte installed in a rigid and
satisfactory canner, either by wood screws on wood, or expansion
thlolds on mesonry. Fizture catlet boxes on ceilings shall he 4¥
square or octagonnl, fitted with ocpen cover to come flush with
finished surfaca. Outlets intended for fixturea requiring studs
ghallh have thesc furnished and installed,

199, Hall Switchesi— Wall switches shall be of the tog:le type,
installed where shown on plans and shall be set flush and pravided
with brazs beveled odge cover plate finished to match surrounding
hardwara whore inst~lled on finished wills and in an approved "'
fitting having an approved cover plate matching thes conduit and
Tiksing whera installed on unfinished walls, All switchos shall be
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of rugged construction and designad to withstand hard service,
Thay shall be indicating so as to show whether they =are open or
cloged. The construction shall be such that it will be imposs-
ible to receive a shock from the switch after it has been
installed. Where two or more switches are mounted together, thay
shall be installed within a eingle fitting or box having cover
plate extending over all switches. WThen installed on finished
walls, cover plate shall be brass with bavelsd edge finishad to
match the surrounding hordware.

200. #nll Receptables or Convenlence Outletsi- Where
recaptaclbe are shown on plans, they shell be installed on walls
about 13" sbove the floor, unlees othorwise directed. Each
outlet sholl be for 660 Watte, fitted with twin conveniences
outlat having a "M slot which wil?! accoomodate standard cape
having eithar parallel dlada or blades in alignment. Heceptacles
shall be provided with two hole, brass beveled edge cover plate
finished to match surrounding hardware whenm installed on finished
walls and in an approved fitting hoving epproved cover plate
matching the conduit and fitting when installed on unfinished wellls.
Seven (7) of these wall receutecles shall be installed, one each in
rooms or locetlons designatad.

201. 2ranch Circults- No wire smaller than #12 3 & § gmuge
shnll be used in ecircuit wiring. Single pole switches shall e
cut into the ungrounded side of circuilt wiring.

a02. Conductorsi- Conducters sh~ll be continuous from
outlet to cutlet and no splice shall ¢ made except in ocutlet boxes,
Conductors will be rubber covered N.E.C. standard and shall be
delivered on the job in new coils bearing the approved stamp of
tha Underwriters Laboratories. Conductors shall be of sufficient
length at cutlets to make connections to apparatus without strain-
ing connections. Splices shnll be made both mechanically and
electrically perfect, properly soldesred and the requisite amount
of rubhar and frictlon tape shall then be applied.

203. Door Dall:- One slectric door bell of apyroved meka,

to Ba placed in kitchen where directed and connected with front
office door. Push button to match hardware,
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204. Setting Tablet:- The bronze Lincoln Teblot furnished
by the Government, to be set by Conmtrnctor, being nently and
securely sttached to the front face of wall where shown by usa
of bronze bolts and approved expmnsion bolt shialde. The bronze
bolts to be furnished by the Govarnment.

Didders will submit proposals as follows:

(a) For the Lodge complete ns specified with cutside
walls mbove foundation built of brick (See par.
?7 of these specifications).

{v) For the Lodge complete as specified with cutside
walls sbove foundation built of face brick and
hollow tile (Sec per. 78 of these specifications),

() Amount to deduct frem (a) or (b) in case all : .
painting and varnishing of the interlor woodwork and floors : '5
iz omitted. 1

(4) Amount to =dd to (a) ar (b) in case the length of
the rear porch is increased ten (10) feet, tha
ediitional perch colwm being furnished by the
Govarnment .

(o) Amount to deduct from (a) or (b) in crse the entirs
rear porch is omitted.

BRLRIETY 2. T .m.’.;sw"‘h. s i
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Building Inventory, 1949
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Building Plan, 1949
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Utility Room, etc., 1965

STANDARD FORM 15 MAY 1553 THIS 15 NOT | ™ot~ fal o AT D CLOEEd
gemmpmmtn | wewesr onwonnons |WORR T [Tyeye [T [P

ADnwy

Chalmette National Historical Park
Box 125, Arsbi, Leuisiana 70032
t mromanen oui: 272112 Mr,Redd or Mr. McCormick

LVIRY H'.'Jun'l [T Ty e———

l':l}

v sidee” | L RiD DELFVTRY DA EE "ol
X Eﬂﬁfﬁ g date 3? %ﬂ'ch«as;

ervices |

femse furnisk quotations in qré_ i
it ies are of domeslic oroEin Un LIE
wlvwsl mfter the date isdieatnl should pech metion be in the inkerest

B the sbave affice an or Balfre bk mg o pmes | de e ) I'mh _2{? ! i ﬁ

1-11 by quoter, The Gowernment reserves the righl to consider quotalices or & therinl Fee
of the Gevernmenl, This is a request for info

Wera.  [f you mre unable W wm_‘;hq - |..r||.|-"|.g o | this form snd eeturn QL. This foguss] doees Bol ssmanil (e Government (e pay sny cmts incureed in

rmalion and guotalsons furnisbed are net

ta procure of contracl for

ha proparation or |h n

Pelicaw f?uﬂ#dﬂ!fi o e

Il I\F e e,

DETRATION (Comdigmes snd addrase ]

s 1 Chalmette National Historicsl Park
Bell Construction Go. Box 125
2551 Ursuline Ave. Arabi, Lounisisna
¥ew Orlesans, La.
= |
g ____._m_._ e SHEELIGH OB, BNTIRE GURNTITY e wat b | AT
Furm.shaula.hormdmaterial to accomplish | =
|the following work at the superintendent's ! thm&d
residence: Chalmptte M. H. F
Bnclose south end of rear porch to half-bath gﬁﬂ:w '
wall. Hemove screen and framing and install s M o i
2 x i framing of #2 pine and weatherboard to Adm. Asst.
match half-bath wall on outside; sheetrock on

inside walls; finishing both cutside and inside
walls ready for painting but leaving unpainted.
¥o work on ceiling or fleor. Furnish and in-
gtall jalousie door to replace existing screen
door, and smell outside deoor to entrance at
north end of porch, both complete with hardware
|and fittings. Furnish and install window in
south wall,

| Build clothes closet in upstairs porch of

2 X 4 framing and sheetrock walls approximately
2 feet deep and 13 feet long. Install 3 flush
hanging by-pass doors and tracks complete with
freme and hardware. Instell pipe hanging rod
and shelving. Leave all walls and doors un=-
painted. Relocate existing electric wall

switch to north wall of closet,

Original Sheet N e

rt Historias

Prives qusted Inclade applieable Federal, Stale, and ool thzes,

% 10 daye;

% 20 cabendar daFsi smmmem-ee- % 30 ealendar days

Disewunis foF prompt payment will be allowed s foll
Gractsr Represenis: (Cheel appropriate bozea)

{0) Theat (b [ is. ] s not. & small business conesre.  Generslly, & small bosdness concern for the marposs of Government pracursment (s & coneern that (1) 1s
operstion snd, with Ha aflintes, employs fewer than 500 emplayees. or (2} |8

mut deminant J- it Bald of

rertifled ma m smanll business concire by e

Bimall Humineas Administraiin. {See Code of Fobérsl Repulationt, Tisla 14, Part 181, as amg which comtaina the detailed definition and related
grovedarea.] Il quater s n emall basiness concern and bs not tbe af qusted en, it alie reporsests that all sepplies quoted on
[] i, ] will not, be manefactured or predused by s small bosi s conewrn in the United States, its Tllll'ilnfln-. il prosrsaions. of the Wllﬂﬂih
of Paerto
(2} Thas it s a [ regular deaber in, [] manefacturer of, the sapplies quoted upon.
3} That it eperates &s an ] individasl. [] vartsership, [ earporation, incerperated In the BEale of cnnessenresssremr s e e e e e e
ME OF otEn | Imclude address of differaml frem abowe b O e QUOTATKN | e T =
Felican Remodelers, Inc, E,q& f; Yy, e  March 24, 1965
Ed Bﬂll, Cl:ll'l‘t,i‘ll:t.ﬂl’" TFL ON FEINT LGRS MM AND TIELE TLEPHOA N3,
Ed Bell, Contractor 525=~1227
18-103

¥k SOVIENMENT FRISTIG SFFICE 1883 O—TERCET
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Wiring, 1965

< 18, max 15 THIS I8 NOT | = @[> = ST R
(R, | eewvest ro wonons | Wotar |1 | 50065 Py
[ TRT LAERT CReck | RTINS MO LSS AUTHRETY D,
Chalmette National Histordesl Park iy

Box 125 I.I‘Ehi, Louisiana mz r;:x SGL IS0 DELIVEAT DATEIRE 3@ d'm Tolé

T .
rex mromumon et 2712412  Mr, Redid or Mr, HeCormick Sarviess) | lOwing date of
ﬁﬂwmﬂullmofle}ll Ao the sbave offioe o or before Lhe riose 61 basiness [date)
Supplivs srw ol doseslic origia wnl atharw il cated by guoter. The Goverement résapves ihe tighl 0 conaider - thons thereal re-
el v ki dllale § son. Lar the ictesesl of e Guvermmsnl. 5 i ’

rf This is a request far inf. ey Turnlehed sre nol
-:_:'.tn ’H'I:_I':P; ol ke, g_mrg";:u_'"_':;“mmﬂh n:hm:ﬁ":-;mrl Ih-ll::hm-ﬂl:mur_.llnﬂﬂ:l_uu
TR 1 |Chalmette National Historieal Park
53&.]'3 Elugt.r:l.i ¢ Box 125
onesa Drive
Chalmette, Lovisiana Arabi, Louisiana
= 2l
i e | SRS OF WEVICTS | cusnmrd T v
= Furnish all supplies, materdisls, and labor to Chalm ‘tf‘:;‘”H &
accomplish the following electrical work in the | | 6] ol |
Park residence. Locations of outlets will be Mg 7 - )
at dirsction of Park Suparintendent. S'parftande ]
| elrpoAsst,
1 |20 - circuit meter loop  \W. P, e Mgl
1 220 volt line and plug to window in living room | Sl i
2 |110 volt lines and plugs in living room | _Parl] Guide
1- m Wl‘h uﬂ‘ M plu tla 'H'ilﬂ.!‘.lﬂ' 1“- dt‘in! TOOR LS hl'.ain Eﬂmrll'_‘E'_l
1 |110 volt lins and plug to dining room
1 {220 volt line and plug to window in small 9_,
3 /110 volt lines and plugs to small bedroom ») 34 ?
1 |220 volt line and plug to window in large ‘0 ! -
L |130 volt lines and plugs to largs bedroom . 3}3_, LR
1 |220 velt line and plug to dryer on back porch M
1 110 wolt line and plug to washer en back perch £ < : dﬁr
1 |220 volt line to water heater on back porch and 4
connect heater when moved from present location -
1 110 velt mingle sircuit to upstairs bath room sl
and furnish and install 1800 watt comblinatlon tm JjeF
1ight=heater=fan, HuTone or equal (>
=1 1 | 220 volt 1line and plug to locker room in Utility ! i
2 1’110 volt.-linea and plugfto upstairs den i
TR BT TP TAR ‘ /32 /9

Prices opoted lechade applioalle Faleral, Stale, nnd losal Az

Diseounts for peampt pryment will be sliowed s follows; oo —5 10 calendar iV oeeeoaa o 20 calandar dEYE s ms e % 30 enlendar dnyn
o Quuter Represasti: (Check spp-spriats baoea |
i muu b [ in peat, moemall businms moaern.  Geastally, & seall basdness concern fo: the parpase of Oeveramerl procurement is & coneern that (1) 1s
ob domimant in is feld of cperatios and, with b affilintes, eanploys fewer than 500 emplopees, or (2) i tifled &5 0 mmall business comesmm
gn—. H:Lnidnuhlmhn. {Hew Code of Federal Regwlapions, Tithe 14, Pard FF5. a0 i-_f!:h‘-. uu.-f ::;lluﬁ-ln llf“’\"lﬂl’hd A, fam pd
provedered. ) IT quater i a amall business coneers and m it faoturer of i liws queted on. i ale represenis that sl sepoles oocled
D'ﬂ.q‘ﬂ-ﬂ.hmnwﬂl h-ll-hlhdlfﬁ!nthumlﬂmlhmmlhmwmwﬁtmﬂﬁ
of Posrte len.

(2} Thae ik is & [T regslur deuber bn, ] manufuctuser of, the supplics gusted upen.

18] That ik operates as an 7] Indivkhal, [7] sariserikip, [] sorpors = Imeorparated in the Swmbe ol o ..
£

-u-r_? QTR ﬁEM adidrens if wi frem a4ove b O PO, A R T — [ T T
P+ Cog s o A P3 i i ______/F_?ru.n- e e
5‘3 Lot i / d ﬁﬁ .",.; TR R |Hmsm|-:1m:|m: Imﬂ,
& é&dﬁ&-‘ Sl |27/ -/673,
LTS RATICH ¢ B 18-102
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As the nation’s principal conservation agency, the
Department of the Interior has responsibility for most
of our nationally owned public lands and natural
resources. This includes fostering sound use of our
land and water resources; protecting our fish, wildlife,
and biological diversity; preserving the environmental
and cultural values of our national parks and
historical places; and providing for the enjoyment of
life through outdoor recreation. The department
assesses our energy and mineral resources and works
to ensure that their development is in the best
interests of all our people by encouraging stewardship
and citizen participation in their care. The
department also has a major responsibility for
American Indian reservation communities and for
people who live in island territories under U.S.
administration.
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